
 
City of Mission 

Regular Meeting Agenda 
Wednesday, August 19, 2015 

7:00 p.m. 
Mission City Hall, 6090 Woodson 

 
If you require any accommodations (i.e. qualified interpreter, large print, reader, hearing assistance) in                           
order to attend this meeting, please notify the Administrative Office at 9136768350 no later than 24                               
hours prior to the beginning of the meeting. 
 
CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
1.  SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 
 

● Police Department Special Presentations 
 
2.  ISSUANCE OF NOTES AND BONDS 
 
3.  CONSENT AGENDA 
 
NOTE:  Information on consent agenda items has been provided to the Governing Body.  These                           
items are determined to be routine enough to be acted on in a single motion; however, this                                 
does not preclude discussion.  If a councilmember requests, an item may be removed                         
from the consent agenda for further consideration and separate motion. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA  GENERAL 
 
3a.    Minutes of the July 15, 2015 City Council Meeting and  

Minutes of the July 29, 2015 Special City Council Meeting 
  
CONSENT AGENDA  Finance & Administration Committee 
  Finance & Administration Committee Meeting Packet 8515 

Finance & Administration Committee Meeting Minutes 8515 
 
3b. Kansas Gas Service Franchise Ordinance Renewal 
3c. Selection of Voting Delegates for LKM Annual Conference 
 
CONSENT AGENDA  Community Development Committee 

Community Development Committee Meeting Packet 8515  
Community Development Committee Meeting Minutes 8515  

 
3d. Community Center AV Replacement Bid 
3e. Extension of Mission Crossing Temporary Construction Easement 
 
COMMUNITY COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 

Approved Minutes from Board and Commission meetings are available on the  
City of Mission website under the “Agendas & Minutes” tab. 

 

http://missionks.org/docview.aspx?doctype=minute&docid=6124
http://missionks.org/docview.aspx?doctype=packet&docid=6217
http://missionks.org/docview.aspx?doctype=minute&docid=6180
http://missionks.org/docview.aspx?doctype=minute&docid=6217
http://missionks.org/docview.aspx?doctype=minute&docid=6218
http://missionks.org/docview.aspx?doctype=packet&docid=6218
http://missionks.org/agenda.aspx


4.  PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
5.  ACTION ITEMS 
 

Planning Commission 
 

5a. Special Use Permit, Big Bob’s Italian Ice, 6655 Martway 
 

Miscellaneous 
 
6.  COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 
Finance & Administration, Arcie Rothrock 
  Finance & Administration Committee Meeting Packet 8515 

Finance & Administration Committee Meeting Minutes 8515 
 
6a. Resolution Expressing the Property Taxation Policy of the Mission City Council  

with Respect to Financing the Annual Budget for 2016 
6b. 2016 Budget Resolution 
6c. 2016 Budget  City of Mission 
6d. 2016 Budget  Rock Creek Drainage District No. 1 
6e. 2016 Budget  Rock Creek Drainage District No. 2 
6f. Resolution Adopting 20162020 CIP 
 
 Community Development, Pat Quinn 

Community Development Committee Meeting Packet 8515 
Community Development Committee Meeting Minutes 8515 

 
6g. Ordinance Regulating Urban Chickens and Beekeeping 
6h. Downtown Task Force Resolution 
6i. Safe Routes to School KDOT Agreement 
 
7.  UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
8.  NEW BUSINESS 
 
8a. 20152016 Aetna Medical Plan Renewal 
 
9.  MAYOR'S REPORT 
 

Appointments 
 
10.  CITY ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT  
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

http://missionks.org/docview.aspx?doctype=packet&docid=6218
http://missionks.org/docview.aspx?doctype=packet&docid=6217
http://missionks.org/docview.aspx?doctype=minute&docid=6217
http://missionks.org/docview.aspx?doctype=minute&docid=6218


 

City of Mission  Item Number:  5a. 

ACTION ITEM SUMMARY  Date:  July 28, 2015 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DEPARTMENT 

From:  Danielle Murray 

Action items require a vote to recommend the item to full City Council for further action. 
 

 RE: Establishment of a Special Use Permit for seasonal outdoor concession sales by 
Big Bob’s Italian Ice at the HyVee Property at 6655 Martway Street. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval of this application with the conditions recommended by 
the Planning Commission at their July 27, 2015 meeting. 
 
DETAILS:  
The subject property was developed as an approximately 80,000 square foot HyVee 
grocery store in 1992.  In January of 1993 store’s representative requested permission 
to construct a seasonal greenhouse on a portion of the parking lot for sales of garden 
and flowering plants and landscaping materials.  The City Council granted this 
permission to run from March through November.  The greenhouse use continues to 
this day.  Out lots around the store were developed as a gas station and fast food 
restaurant in 2003 and 2001 respectively.   
 
At this time, a seasonal concession vendor is requesting consideration of an additional 
accessory use on the property.  Big Bob’s Italian Ice represented by Misty Guyer is 
requesting a Special Use Permit to allow for sales of their product from AprilOctober 
with hours of operation from 11 AMdusk.  Sales would occur out of a 7’x14’ dual axle 
tow behind trailer parked along the eastern front of the store.   
 
The trailer would remain on site overnight throughout the sales season, be secured with 
a standard lock and deadbolt lock, and supported by jacks at rear corners and tongue 
jack stand to level it.  Power and water would be supplied by the HyVee store and trash 
and waste water would be disposed of inside the store.  Seating would be provided via 
the HyVee store which already has patio furniture in this area.  The trailer, when open, 
would have a serving window along the side under a hatch door.  No additional signs 
are requested other than those graphics on the trailer which are not subject to sign 
regulations.  The applicant has negotiated an annual lease agreement with the property 
owner/store.  Their Intention is to have a multiyear presence with 12 employees. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Related Statute/City Ordinance:   

Line Item Code/Description:   

Available Budget:   

 



 

City of Mission  Item Number:  5a. 

ACTION ITEM SUMMARY  Date:  July 28, 2015 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DEPARTMENT 

From:  Danielle Murray 

Action items require a vote to recommend the item to full City Council for further action. 
 

The Planning Commission, at their July 27, 2015 meeting, voted 70 to recommend 
approval of a Special Use Permit limited to Big Bob’s Italian Ice for Case #1505 to the 
City Council for seasonal outdoor concession sales with the following conditions: 
 
1. The months of operation shall be limited to AprilOctober. 
2. Sales shall be limited to occur on paved areas of the site not within the parking 

field. 
3. The applicant shall be responsible for the proper disposal of all waste/trash on a                           

daily basis. 
 
 

 

Related Statute/City Ordinance:   

Line Item Code/Description:   

Available Budget:   

 



 
DRAFT 

 
MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

JULY 27, 2015 
 

 

The regular meeting of the Mission Planning Commission was called to order by Chair Mike Lee 
at 7:00 PM Monday, July 27th, 2015.  Members also present: Jim Brown, Robin Dukelow, Stuart 
Braden, Carla Mills,  Charlie Troppito and Rob Simpson.  Also in attendance: City Planner 
Danielle Murray and Planning Commission Secretary Nakeisha Cooper. Scott Babcock and 
Brad Davidson were absent.   

 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM THE APRIL 27TH,  2015 MEETING 

Mr. Brown moved and Ms. Dukelow seconded a motion to approve the minutes of the April 
27th meeting. The vote was taken (601), with one abstention (Troppito). The motion carried. 

CASE#1505 SPECIAL USE PERMIT  SEASONAL CONCESSIONS  PUBLIC HEARING  
 
Ms. Murray presented the staff report. 
 
The subject property is the HyVee grocery store on Martway Street. It is located in the West                                 
Gateway District and subject to the Form Based Code as Block AA as well as the Johnson Drive                                   
Design Guidelines. The Comprehensive Plan indicates this area is appropriate for mixed use                         
high density redevelopment to include office, retail, institutions, civic, and medium to high                         
density residential uses. The plan promotes compact pedestrian oriented uses rather than large                         
scale or automotive oriented uses. While the existing use provides a vital community service                           
and is set within an area in which many uses can found in close proximity, the site itself is not                                       
yet a mixed use development. 
 
At this time, a seasonal concession vendor is requesting consideration of an additional                         
accessory use on the property. Big Bob’s Italian Ice represented by Misty Guyer is requesting a                               
Special Use Permit to allow for sales of their product from AprilOctober with hours of operation                               
from 11 AM  dusk. Sales would occur out of a 7’x14’ dual axle tow behind trailer parked along                                     
the eastern front of the store. 
 
The trailer would remain on site overnight throughout the sales season, be secured with a                             
standard lock and deadbolt lock, and supported by jacks at rear corners and tongue jack stand                               
to level it. Power and water would be supplied by the HyVee store and trash and waste water                                   
would be disposed of inside the store. Seating would be provided via the HyVee store which                               
already has patio furniture in this area. The trailer, when open, would have a serving window                               
along the side under a hatch door. No additional signs are requested other than those graphics                               
on the trailer which are not subject to sign regulations. The applicant has negotiated an annual                               
lease agreement with the property owner/store. Their Intention is to have a multiyear presence                           
with 12 
employees. 

1 



 
DRAFT 

 
MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

JULY 27, 2015 
 

 

 
Misty Guyer Owner of Big Bob’s Italian Ice came forth and explained that their business has                               
been in operation since 2008. They have a small following and have participated in several                             
different Johnson County events. Ms. Guyers stated that it will be nice to have a seasonal                               
vending station in the City of Mission. Their products are lactose and gluten free which allows                               
for a broader range of people to enjoy their product. 
 
Ms. Dukelow asked the applicant if they have a plan for water from condensation on air                               
conditioner and or refrigeration units. 
 
Ms. Guyer stated that the work trailer comes equipped with freezers and 4 gallon buckets.                             
There will not be condensation issues. Hyvee has given the applicant permission to dispose of                             
products and waste water inside of their kitchen. 
 
Mr. Troppito asked the applicant how they would dispose of waste and if they have obtained                               
liability insurance to cover any issues that may arise while they are operating on the property. 
 
Ms. Guyer explained that there will be a trash can for cups and spoons and any additional waste                                   
will be carried inside by staff and disposed of inside of the HyVee kitchen area. She then                                 
advised the Commission that once she has received the approval from the Commission she will                             
obtain the umbrella insurance policy that HyVee has recommended she obtain. In the                         
meantime, her company does carry liability insurance. 
 
Mr. Brown asked the applicant if HyVee would provide their electrical service, and if the service                               
window of the trailer was ADA accessible. His concern is that the applicant is compliant with the                                 
ADA guidelines, and all patrons are accommodated for. 
 
Ms. Guyer replied yes and explained that they would have an electrical power cord that will be                                 
out of the public rightofway, no customer would be exposed to the cord. Ms. Guyer then                               
explained that if there is customer that is not able to access the window she would personally                                 
leave the station to supply the patron with their purchase. 
 
Ms. Dukelow asked the applicant if there would be any additional furniture; tables or chairs,                             
provided for public use. 
 
Ms. Guyer replied no. HyVee has a designated area where picnic tables are currently                           
accessible for public use.  
 
Mr. Braden asked the applicant to explain how the sink waste will be disposed. 
 

2 



 
DRAFT 

 
MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

JULY 27, 2015 
 

 

Ms. Guyer explained that the waste is retained in a plastic container. Once the container is full                                 
they the contents will be discarded in the HyVee kitchen area. 
 
Mr. Brown asked the applicant to expound on their product. 
 
Ms. Guyer explained that italian ice is similar to sorbet. It is dairy free and allergy friendly. It                                   
scoops like ice cream and is served in a cup. The product is nothing like a snow cone, or                                     
shaved ice. All of the ingredients are premixed. It is most commonly sold on the East Coast. 
 
Mr. Lee opened the Public Hearing; with no public comments Mr. Lee closed the Public Hearing. 
 
Mr. Lee asked staff if the Commission could make a motion on the requested use of the                                 
property or if the approval could be specific to this particular vendor alone.   
 
Ms. Murray explained that the Commission had the option to do either but that in the past most                                   
special use permits have been for the use not a particular user or vendor   
 
Mr. Simpson asked if the approval would apply to the applicant or HyVee. 
 
Ms. Murray explained that the Commission would create a Special Use Permit for the use at the                                 
property.   
 
Mr. Troppito moved and Mr. Simpson seconded a motion to recommend approval of a 
Special Use Permit limited to Big Bob’s Italian Ice for Case #1505 to the City Council for 
seasonal outdoor concession sales with the following conditions: 
 
1. The months of operation shall be limited to AprilOctober. 
2. Sales shall be limited to occur on paved areas of the site not within the parking field. 
3. The applicant shall be responsible for the proper disposal of all waste/trash on a daily 

basis. 
 
Mr. Brown offered an amendment that the picnic tables or dining surfaces to be easy cleanable 
and not allow the product to absorb into it, to prevent undesirable insects. 
 
The motion failed for lack of a second.  
 
The vote on the original motion was taken, (700). The motion carried. 
 

 
 

3 



 
DRAFT 

 
MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

JULY 27, 2015 
 

 

 
CITY UPDATES 

 
Ms. Murray updated the Commissioners on the current City business.  

 
ADJOURNMENT 

  
With no other agenda items, Ms. Mills moved and Mr. Braden seconded a motion to 
adjourn.  (Vote was unanimous).  The motion carried. The meeting adjourned at 7:28 P.M. 
   

 
 _________________________________ 

Mike Lee, Chair 
 ATTEST:     
  

______________________________   
Nakeisha Cooper 
Planning Commission Secretary 

4 



 

STAFF REPORT 
Planning Commission Meeting July 27, 2015 

 
AGENDA ITEM NO.: 2 
 
PROJECT NUMBER / TITLE: Application # 1505 
 
REQUEST: Special Use Permit (SUP) for seasonal outdoor 

concessions stand sales 
 
LOCATION: 6655 Martway Street 
 
APPLICANT: Misty Guyer 

Big Bob’s Italian Ice 
5215 Goodman Ln 
Overland Park, KS  66202 

 
PROPERTY OWNER: HyVee, Inc 

5820 Westown Pkwy 
West Des Moines, IA  50266 

 
STAFF CONTACT: Danielle Murray 

 
ADVERTISEMENT: June 30, 2015 

 
PUBLIC HEARING: Planning Commission 

July 27, 2015 
 

 
Aerial View of Property 

 
 

1 



 

Property Information: 
The subject property is the HyVee grocery store on Martway Street.  It is located in the 
West Gateway District and subject to the Form Based Code as Block AA as well as the 
Johnson Drive Design Guidelines.  The Comprehensive Plan indicates this area is 
appropriate for mixed use high density redevelopment to include office, retail, 
institutions, civic, and medium to high density residential uses.  The plan promotes 
compact pedestrian oriented uses rather than large scale or automotive oriented uses. 
While the existing use provides a vital community service and is set within an area in 
which many uses can found in close proximity, the site itself is not yet a mixed use 
development.   
   
Surrounding properties are zoned and developed as follows: 
North: “C2A” Pedestrian Oriented Business District, Shopping Center and Fast Food                     
Restaurant 
East: “CP0” Office Building District, Johnson County Offices 
South: “R1” SingleFamily Residential District, Singlefamily dwellings 
West: “M1” General Industrial District, Packing Products Company and “C2B” Retail &                       
Service District, Fast Food Restaurant 
 
Background: 
The subject property was developed as an approximately 80,000 square foot HyVee 
grocery store in 1992.  In January of 1993 store’s representative requested permission 
to construct a seasonal greenhouse on a portion of the parking lot for sales of garden 
and flowering plants and landscaping materials.  The City Council granted this 
permission to run from March through November.  The greenhouse use continues to 
this day.  Out lots around the store were developed as a gas station and fast food 
restaurant in 2003 and 2001 respectively.   
 
At this time, a seasonal concession vendor is requesting consideration of an additional 
accessory use on the property.  Big Bob’s Italian Ice represented by Misty Guyer is 
requesting a Special Use Permit to allow for sales of their product from AprilOctober 
with hours of operation from 11 AMdusk.  Sales would occur out of a 7’x14’ dual axle 
tow behind trailer parked along the eastern front of the store.   
 

 
 

2 



 

The trailer would remain on site overnight throughout 
the sales season, be secured with a standard lock and 
deadbolt lock, and supported by jacks at rear corners 
and tongue jack stand to level it.  Power and water 
would be supplied by the HyVee store and trash and 
waste water would be disposed of inside the store. 
Seating would be provided via the HyVee store which 
already has patio furniture in this area.  The trailer, 
when open, would have a serving window along the 
side under a hatch door.  No additional signs are 
requested other than those graphics on the trailer which 
are not subject to sign regulations.  The applicant has 
negotiated an annual lease agreement with the property 
owner/store.  Their Intention is to have a multiyear 
presence with 12 employees. 
 
Code review:   
Under Municipal Code Section 445.180.C  The 
Planning Commission and City Council may 
designate such other uses as appropriate for a 
special use permit upon a finding that the use is 
appropriate in a certain location but is not listed 
as allowed in any district or is only allowed in a 
district which contains other uses inappropriate 
in this subject location. 
 
The colocation of exterior sales on site is not a 
normal and customary use for this zoning district 
nor specifically addressed elsewhere in the 
code.  Therefore it was determined that a 
Special Use Permit application should be made 
for consideration. 
 
According to Section 445.190 special uses may be approved by action of the City 
Council after recommendation from the Planning Commission.  Special uses may be 
approved with conditions including, but not limited to, the following: 

1. Requirements for special yards, open spaces, density, buffers, fences, walls and 
screening. 

2. The installation of landscaping and maintenance. 
3. Provisions for erosion control. 
4. Limitations on ingress and egress movements into and out of the site and traffic 

circulation. 
5. Limitation on signage. 
6. Limitation on hours of operation and other characteristics of operation. 
7. Conditions specifically listed under the individual special use. 
8. Other conditions deemed necessary to ensure compatibility with surrounding 

 
 

3 



 

land uses.  
 

In addition, Section 445.220 of the Municipal Code states that special use permits 
generally run with the use of the property.  Conditions placed must be clearly spelled 
out in the motion for approval. Section 445.230 of the City Code allows for the 
termination of a SUP at any time for several reasons.  This includes if conditions in the 
neighborhood have changed to the extent that approval of the permit would be clearly 
unwarranted if being applied for at the time of revocation.  
 
Special Use Permit: 
Section 440.140.E, Criteria for Considering (SUP) applications, lists the criteria to be 
used by the Planning Commission and City Council in the consideration of this 
application.  An evaluation of these criteria is as follows: 
 
1. The character of the neighborhood. 

The subject property is a portion of the Barkley Square shopping center consisting of 
gas, fast food, and grocery sales.   Inside the grocery store is a coffee shop, 
pharmacy, and prepared food service.  Occasionally, the grocery store hosts 
promotional food service events outdoors.  The shopping center is located on 
Martway Street, one of the main commercial circulator streets.  A residential 
neighborhood is located immediately to the south of the store.   
 
The proposed use would not be out of character with the existing neighborhood 
since it closely resembles other similar businesses operations in the area that occur 
on a sporadic basis.   
 

2. The zoning and uses of nearby properties, and the extent to which the proposed use 
would be in harmony with such zoning and uses. 
Nearby properties are commercially zoned similarly to the subject property.  The 
proposed use would be a sub component of the existing use.   
 
The proposed use is less intense than that of the main use or nearby uses.  It would 
not generate substantial additional activity in the area. 

 
3. The suitability of the property for the uses to which it has been restricted under the 

applicable zoning district regulations. 
The property is suitable for the uses to which it has been restricted under the 
applicable zoning district regulations and changes to its zoning regulations are not 
appropriate at this time.  
 

4. The extent to which approval of the application would detrimentally affect nearby 
properties. 
Approval of the application is not expected to detrimentally affect nearby properties. 
Adequate parking for any extra customers is expected due to combined trips and 
shared parking. 
 

 
 

4 



 

5. The length of time the property has remained vacant as zoned. 
The property is not vacant and has been continuously in use since 1992 with further 
development occurring around it.  
 

6. The relative benefit to the public health, safety and welfare by retaining applicable 
restrictions on the property as compared to the destruction of the value of the 
property or hardship to the owner association with denying its request. 
Retaining the existing restrictions on the property would neither improve or destroy 
the value of the property nor provide a significant hardship to the property owner 
(HyVee).  
 

7. The master plan or comprehensive plan. 
The proposed  use conforms with the long term vision of the Future Land Use 
section of the Comprehensive Plan.  The Comprehensive Plan encourages high 
density, mixed use, pedestrian oriented redevelopment by providing additional 
onestop shopping rather than automobile oriented uses.   
 

8. The extent to which the proposed use would adversely affect the capacity or safety 
of that portion of the road network influenced by the use, or present parking 
problems in the vicinity of the property. 
Based on its small relative size and duration of operation, the proposed use will not 
generate substantially more traffic than the existing use already does.   
 

9. The recommendation of the professional staff. 
Approval with the stipulations listed below. 
 

10.The extent to which utilities and services, including but not limited to, sewers, water 
service, police and fire protection, and parks and recreation facilities, are available 
and adequate to serve the proposed use. 
All utilities and services are in place and are adequate to serve the proposed use. 
The grocery store has adequate delivery and trash removal services for the 
additional use.  
 

11.The extent to which the proposed use would create excessive stormwater runoff, air 
pollution, water pollution, noise pollution or other environmental harm. 
The proposed use will not result in any additional or excessive stormwater runoff or 
any form of pollution as the site is already developed as impervious surfaced patio 
area. 
 

12.The extent to which there is a need for the use in the community. 
The requested use would bring an additional business to the community.    
 

13.The economic impact of the proposed use on the community. 
There will be some additional sales tax revenue generated for the City of Mission 
from the slight increase in retail sales at the already developed site.   No city 
incentives are being requested by the applicant. 

 
 

5 



 

 
14.The ability of the applicant to satisfy any requirements applicable to the specific use 

imposed pursuant to the zoning district regulations. 
Staff expects the applicant will be able to satisfy any applicable requirements. 

 
Staff Recommendation 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission recommend approval of a Special Use 
Permit to run with the use for Case #1505 to the City Council for seasonal outdoor 
concession sales with the following conditions: 
 
1. Set the months of operation, as requested by the applicant, to be AprilOctober. 
2. Limit the location of sales to occur on paved areas of the site not within the the 

parking field. 
3. Require the proper disposal of all waste/trash on a daily basis. 
 
 
Planning Commission Recommendation 
The Planning Commission, at their July 27, 2015 meeting, voted 70 to recommend 
approval of a Special Use Permit limited to Big Bob’s Italian Ice for Case #1505 to the 
City Council for seasonal outdoor concession sales with the following conditions: 
 
1. The months of operation shall be limited to AprilOctober. 
2. Sales shall be limited to occur on paved areas of the site not within the parking 

field. 
3. The applicant shall be responsible for the proper disposal of all waste/trash on a                           

daily basis. 
 

 
 

6 



 
 

CITY OF MISSION, KANSAS 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ____ 
 
AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING CERTAIN PROPERTY WITHIN THE             
CITY OF MISSION KANSAS TO BE USED FOR OR OCCUPIED BY A                       
SPECIAL USE. 

 
WHEREAS, an application for the establishment of a Special Use Permit                     

has heretofore been made to occupy or use property located at 6655 Martway Street                           
to be used by Big Bob’s Italian Ice for the following use or uses: Seasonal outdoor                               
concession sales. 
 

WHEREAS, said property is currently zoned District CP2 wherein such uses                     
are not permitted; and 
 

WHEREAS, notice of said original application was duly given as required by                       
law by publication and mailing; and 
 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held pursuant to law before the City                       
Planning Commission of the City of Mission, and the recommendation of said Planning                         
Commission was acted upon by the City Council of the City of Mission as required by                               
law: 
 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL                 
OF THE CITY OF MISSION KANSAS: 
 

Section 1. That the said property described as: 
BARKLEY SQUARE LTS 1 3 & 4 MIC 254L 1 

Johnson County parcel  
ID#KP05660000 0001 

In the City of Mission, Johnson County, Kansas 
 

may be occupied or used for the above described special use or uses subject to these 
conditions and requirements: 
 

1. The months of operation shall be limited to AprilOctober.  
2. Sales shall be limited to occur on paved areas of the site not within the parking 

field. 
3. The applicant shall be responsible for the proper disposal of all waste/trash on 

a daily basis. 
 

Section 2. That the approval of this Special Use Permit shall not change the                       
zoning currently assigned to the property by the Official Zoning Map. 
 

Section 3. This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its                         
adoption and publication according to law. 



 
 

Passed by the City Council this 19th day of August 2015. 
 

Approved by the Mayor this 19th day of August 2015. 
 
 
 

_______________________________  
Steve Schowengerdt, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
____________________________  
     Martha M. Sumrall, City Clerk 
 



 

City of Mission  Item Number:  6a. 

ACTION ITEM SUMMARY  Date:  August 5, 2015  

Administration   From:  Brian Scott 
Action items require a vote to recommend the item to full City Council for further action. 
 

RE: Resolution expressing the property taxation policy of the Governing Body of the 
City of Mission with Respect to Financing the Annual Budget for 2016 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Adopt the resolution expressing the property taxation policy of 
the Governing Body of the City of Mission with respect to financing the annual budget 
for 2016. 
 
DETAILS: K.S.A. 792925b, a section of the Kansas budget law, was amended last 
year by the Kansas State Legislature to provide for a CPI adjustment to the prior year 
net levy, and the publication of a notice of vote of the Governing Body should it adopt a 
budget exceeding a computed tax levy limit.   
 
K.S.A 792925b was further amended this year when the Kansas State Legislature 
passed, and Governor Brownback subsequently signed into law, HB 2109 and SB 270, 
which combine to provide funding for the State's 2016 budget.  Specifically, the 
additional amendment to K.S.A 792925b contained within these two bills requires 
Governing Bodies of either a city or county which propose to adopt a budget exceeding 
the computed levy limit to adopt – in advance of adopting the budget itself – a resolution 
approving a total levy dollar amount in excess of the computed tax levy limit.  
 
Furthermore, effective January 1, 2018 cities and counties that are required to adopt 
such a resolution must also obtain approval of the voters before the resolution becomes 
effective.  Though the requirement for obtaining voter approval does not become 
effective until after January 1, 2018, many cities in Johnson County, and the County 
itself, that are considering a levy increase in excess of the computed tax levy limit are 
proceeding with at least having their respective governing bodies consider the adoption 
of a resolution for this upcoming budget year.  This would be the case for the City of 
Mission.  Attached is the resolution for the City Council’s consideration. 
 
   
 
 
 

 

Related Statute/City Ordinance:   

Line Item Code/Description:   

Available Budget:   

 



CITY OF MISSION, KANSAS 

RESOLUTION NO._________ 

A RESOLUTION EXPRESSING THE PROPERTY TAXATION POLICY OF THE CITY 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MISSION WITH RESPECT TO FINANCING THE ANNUAL 

BUDGET FOR 2016 

WHEREAS, K.S.A. 792925b, as amended, provides that a levy of property taxes to 
finance the 2016 budget of the City of Mission exceeding the amount levied to finance the 2015 
budget of the City of Mission, as adjusted to reflect changes in the Consumer Price Index for All 
Urban Consumers for calendar year 2014, be authorized by a resolution adopted in advance of 
the adoption of a budget supported by such levy; and 

WHEREAS, K.S.A. 792925b, as amended, also provides that current year revenue that 
is produced and attributable to the taxation of (1) new improvements, (2) increased personal 
property valuation other than increased valuation of oil and gas leaseholds and mobile homes, 
(3) property located within added jurisdictional territory, and (4) property which has changed in 
use shall not be considered when determining whether revenue produced from property tax has 
increased from the preceding year; and 

WHEREAS, City of Mission must continue to provide services to protect the health, 
safety and welfare of the citizens of the city; and 

WHEREAS, the cost of providing essential services continues to increase. 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Governing Body of the City of Mission that: 

Section 1.  In accordance with State law the City of Mission conducted a public hearing 
and published a budget summary to fund city services from January 1, 2016 to 
December 31, 2016. 

Section 2.  In order to maintain the public services, a levy of property taxes in support of 
the 2016 budget exceeding the amount levied in 2015, as adjusted pursuant to K.S.A. 
792925b, as amended, is hereby approved. 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MISSION on this 19th 
day of August 2015. 

APPROVED BY THE MAYOR on this 19th day of August 2015  

 

 

   Steve Schowengerdt, Mayor 



ATTEST: 

 

 

    Martha Sumrall, City Clerk 



 

City of Mission  Item Number:  6b. 

ACTION ITEM SUMMARY  Date:  July 31, 2015 

Administration  From:  Laura Smith 
Action items require a vote to recommend the item to full City Council for further action. 
 

RE: 2016 Budget Resolution and Financial Policies 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approve the Budget Resolution outlining the policy decisions, 
mill levies and fees included in the City of Mission, Rock Creek Drainage District #1 and 
Rock Creek Drainage District #2 budgets for 2016. 
 
DETAILS:   As a part of the annual budget process, the Governing Body adopts a 
budget resolution which outlines and describes the financial policies, tax and fee 
structures and other related issues included in a proposed budget for the upcoming 
fiscal year.  The Resolution included in the packet incorporates the feedback staff has 
received throughout the budget process.   
 
The policies included in the Resolution were drafted following the August 5th Finance & 
Administration Committee meeting.  The final steps in adopting the 2016 Budgets will 
include:   
 

● Approve a Resolution expressing the property taxation policy for the 2016 Budget 
(necessary because of proposed mill levy increase) 

● Approve 2016 Budget Resolution and Financial Policies 
● Adopt City of Mission 2016 Budget 
● Adopt Rock Creek Drainage District #1 2016 Budget 
● Adopt Rock Creek Drainage District #2 2016 Budget   
● Adopt 20162020 Community Investment Program 

 
 
 

 

Related Statute/City Ordinance:   

Line Item Code/Description:   

Available Budget:   

 



 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 

Date: August 14, 2015 

To: Mayor and City Council 

From: Laura Smith, City Administrator 

RE: Final review of 2016 Budget

 

Next Wednesday we will be adopting the 2016 budgets for the City, Rock Creek Drainage 
District #1 and Rock Creek Drainage District #2.  After months of review and discussion, the 
recommended budget seeks to find an appropriate balance among the City’s many competing 
priorities.  Following our discussion at the August 5th Finance & Administration Committee 
meeting, the budget presented includes a increase of 7 mills (dedicated entirely to street 
maintenance) and an increase of $5/per ERU in the stormwater utility to accomplish the 
following: 
 
7 mills  $5/ERU increase 
 

● Generates approximately $833,000 for streets (accomplishes full replacement of 
existing TUF revenues in one year). 

● Generates $450,000 annually to fund stormwater debt service. 
● Funds the highest priority capital equipment needs for the operating 

Departments, but does defer other capital and facility needs. 
● Maintains all existing programs and services in the General Fund at their current 

levels, but doesn’t provide for the addition of supplemental programs or services. 
● Shows continued progress and commitment to rebuilding fund balance. 
● May start to challenge financial impact limits supported by survey results if a 

sales tax election is also pursued. 

 

1 



 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 

 
Stormwater 

For the last several years, we have known that a revenue shortfall for stormwater debt service 
was possible. It materialized in 2015, and will be accommodated in the current fiscal year with 
the onetime use of unanticipated General Fund revenues collected in 2014.  With the $5/ERU 
increase included in the recommended budget, no additional funding is needed from the 
General Fund to meet debt service requirements in future years.  Additionally, with this level of 
stormwater funding funds for repair and maintenance become available with the 2017 budget. 
At the end of the 5year program the CIP shows approximately $1.4 million available to address 
debt reduction, primary or secondary stormwater system needs.   

Streets 

As presented in previous meetings, even with the current level of street funding in place today, 
there are still significant needs in the street program.  The needs are driven by funding for 
fulldepth replacement of residential streets, and completing work on the City’s major 
thoroughfares (Foxridge Drive, Broadmoor, and Johnson Drive west of Lamar). 

In addition to replacing the transportation utility fee with mills, the Council continues to express 
an interest in exploring the use of an additional sales tax to fund these identified needs. Two 
scenarios illustrating the street portion of the 20162020 CIP are included in the packet.  The 
first with 7 mills only, the second with 7 mills and an additional ¼cent sales tax.  If both funding 
sources are ultimately approved, the street program would accomplish the following: 

● Payment of streetrelated debt service 
● Maintenance of chip seal and mill and overlay program funded at $350,000 per year 
● Maintenance program (sidewalks, traffic safety) funding at $75,000 per year 
● Fulldepth replacement program funded at $300,000 per year 
● Completion of both phases of the Foxridge project (56th to 51st and 51st to Lamar) 

 
Parks and Recreation 

The proposed CIP for 20162020 is included and remains unchanged from our previous 
discussions.   

 

Summary 

The 2016 Budget process has certainly presented us with some unique challenges.  If you have 
questions or there is additional information you may require in order to reach a final decision on 
the 2016 budget, please let me know at your earliest convenience. 

2 



CITY OF MISSION, KANSAS 
RESOLUTION NO.  _____ 

 
A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING BUDGET POLICIES FOR BUDGET YEAR 2016 FOR THE CITY OF 
MISSION, KANSAS. 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Mission must continue to provide basic services to protect the health, safety, and 
welfare of the citizens of this community; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Mission continues to promote a redevelopment vision designed to bring increased 

density to our commercial corridors to positively impact property values and lower the per capita cost of basic 
services; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is important to fund the replacement and repair of public infrastructure such as streets, 

sidewalks, storm water structures, parks, and public facilities to encourage private redevelopment; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City has implemented more transparent methods for paying for services and infrastructure 
through dedicated stormwater, solid waste, parks and recreation, and street revenues; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Governing Body of the City of Mission: 
 
Section 1.   The Governing Body establishes the following policies to maintain the public infrastructure as part of 
the Community Investment Program (CIP) within the 2016 Budget. 
 
1. Increase the Stormwater Utility Fee from $23.00 per ERU per month to $28 per ERU per month.  This 

would provide an estimated $2.5 million annually in Stormwater Utility fees for repayment of debt service. 
2. Maintain the current property tax mill rate of 10.500 mills in Rock Creek Drainage District #1 and Rock 

Creek Drainage District #2.  The Drainage Districts generate approximately $80,000 in combined annual 
revenue.   

3. Suspend the Transportation Utility Fee in the 2016 Budget. 
4. Increase the mill levy in the General Fund by 7.0 mills (estimated total mill rate of 18.354).  The revenues 

generated from the mill increase ($833,000 annually) will be transferred to the Capital Improvement Fund 
to support the residential street maintenance program. 

5. Use the revenues from the ⅜cent Parks & Recreation Sales Tax for debt service on the outdoor aquatic 
facility, facility/equipment costs associated with the Sylvester Powell, Jr. Community Center and 
maintenance of the City’s outdoor park and trail amenities.  The sales tax generates approximately 
$800,000 annually. 

 
Section 2.   The Governing Body has established the following policies to maintain basic services and city 
operations as part of the General Fund and within the 2016 Budget. 
 
1. Preserve the equivalent 2015 mill levy rate (11.354) for General Fund operations.  Although the total mill 

to be levied in the General Fund is 18.354, the revenues generated by the 7.0 mill increase will be used 
exclusively for street maintenance. 

2. Maintain a General Fund balance of no less than $2.0 million.  The City’s goal for reserve funds is 25% of 
our total General Fund revenues.  To reach that goal, the city would need to have a General Fund balance of 
approximately $2.5 million. 

 



3. Maintain the Solid Waste Utility Rate at $13.59 per month for singlefamily property owners. An estimated 
transfer in the amount of $85,000 from the General Fund subsidizes singlefamily residential trash service 
from Deffenbaugh, which will be contracted at a rate of $15.79 per month per home in 2016. 

4. Continue to implement merit pool increases for outstanding employee performance. 
5. Fund replacement of the highest priority needs from the 10year replacement schedule, including 

replacement of the Police Department’s front line fleet, a skid steer in Public Works, the phone system at 
City Hall/Police Department and the Neighborhood Services vehicle.  Capital equipment replacement will 
be accomplished through purchase and leasepurchase and is estimated at $236,500. 

6. Maintain the Franchise and Mill Rate Rebate program at 100% of the City Franchise Fees, 75% of the total 
City Mill exclusive of all City special assessments, and 50% rebate of the Solid Waste Utility Fee.  This 
expense is estimated at approximately $14,000. 

7. Increase the cost recovery goal for the Community Center from 80% to 90% of operating costs, excluding 
capital.   

 
Section 3.   The Governing Body directs staff to pursue the following areas as part of ongoing budget 
considerations. 
 
1. Continue to research and present options for a sales tax election within the next 69 months that would fund 

fulldepth reconstruction projects and maintenance of major thoroughfares in the City’s street program. 
2. Continue to look for partnership options that could decrease costs supported by Mission taxpayers. 
3. Continue to aggressively manage department expenditures to be as efficient as possible in using limited 

resources to deliver high quality services. 
4. Use the results of the 2015 DirectionFinder survey to evaluate and articulate Council goals and objectives 

for upcoming budget cycles. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF MISSION on this 19th day of 
August 2015. 

 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR on this 19th day of August 2015. 

 
 

______________________________________ 
Steve Schowengerdt, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Martha Sumrall, City Clerk 





Fund:  General

Actual Budget Proposed 2015/2016
2014 2015 2016 % Change

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1 1,511,049$        2,463,712$        2,068,449$        -16.04%

REVENUES

    Taxes
Property Tax - General Fund (11.354) 1,162,067$        1,320,000$        1,320,000$        0.00%
Property Tax - Streets (7) -                        -                        833,000             
Delinquent Property Tax 13,609               15,000               15,000               0.00%
Motor Vehicle Tax 136,642             153,478             160,117             4.33%
City Sales and Use Tax           3,185,688 2,525,000          2,730,000          8.12%
County Sales and Use Tax 694,381             750,000             725,000             -3.33%
County Sales/Use Tax - Jail 172,948             185,000             185,000             0.00%
County Sales/Use Tax - Public Safety 172,946             185,000             185,000             0.00%
Franchise Tax 1,036,905          1,050,000          1,050,000          0.00%
Alcohol Tax 45,517               42,800               42,800               0.00%
CID/TIF Sales Tax Revenues 122,418             -                        -                        
Subtotal Taxes 6,743,121$        6,226,278$        7,245,917$        16.38%

    Licenses and Permits 136,024$           150,000$           145,500$           -3.00%
184,662             140,000             150,000             7.14%

    Police Fines 1,131,205          1,350,000          1,250,000          -7.41%
    Charges for Services 192,899             185,000             200,000             8.11%
    Interest 1,521                 1,500                 2,000                 33.33%
    Miscellaneous and Other              174,962 150,000             125,000             -16.67%
    Pool Revenues 104,750           100,000           107,000             7.00%
    Mission Square PILOTS 53,125               53,125               53,125               0.00%
    Transfer P&R Sales Tax Revenues 100,000             25,000               -                        -100.00%
    Transfers from other Funds                          - -                        -                        
    Community Center Revenues 1,703,826          1,710,000                    1,740,000 1.75%
    Bond/Lease Proceeds 190,000             -                                                 - 

TOTAL REVENUES 10,716,095$      10,090,903$      11,018,542$      9.19%

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services 6,091,469          6,334,630          6,412,650          1.23%
Contractual Services 2,473,829          2,603,686          2,673,275          2.67%
Commodities 382,685             505,350             488,300             -3.37%
Capital Outlay 494,264             126,000             236,500             87.70%
Debt Service 78,104               163,500             188,310             15.17%

Lease Puchase Payments - $108,534
Street Lights Payments - $79,776

CID/TIF Distributions 104,923             -                        -                        
Mission Crossing CID - $56,000 -                        -                        -                        
Mission Crossing TIF - $56,000 -                        -                        -                        

Mission Crossing Prop - $75,000 -                        -                        -                        
Contingency/Reserves/Transfers 138,157             753,000             969,000             28.69%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 9,763,432          10,486,166        10,968,035        4.60%

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31 2,463,712          2,068,449          2,118,956          2.44%

    Jo Co Plan Review/Inspection Fees



Fund:  Stormwater

Actual Estimate Budget 
2014 2015 2016

$191,050 $24,077 $87,430

REVENUES

    Taxes
Property Tax $0 $0 $0
Delinquent Property Tax $199 $0 $0
Motor Vehicle Tax $0 $0 $0

    Interest $118 $100 $150
    Stormwater Utility Fees $2,059,219 $2,050,000 $2,500,000
Intergovernmental Revenue $0 $0 $0
Miscellaneous Revenue $0 $60,000 $0
Bond Proceeds $14,248,111 $0 $0
Transfers from Other Funds $159,550 $565,000 $80,000

TOTAL REVENUES $16,467,197 $2,675,100 $2,580,150

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services $44,046 $0 $0
Contractual Services $8,901 $5,000 $5,000
Commodities $60 $0 $0
Capital Outlay $0 $0 $0
Debt Service $16,581,163 $2,606,747 $2,619,319

$0 $0 $0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $16,634,170 $2,611,747 $2,624,319

$24,077 $87,430 $43,261

unit (ERU) to be used for storm water improvements city-wide.

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

Fund Sources:  Stormwater Utility fees, Interest, Transfers and Intergovernmental Revenue.

Guidelines:  Established to account for storm water utility charges received based on equivalent residential



Fund:  Special Highway

Actual Estimate Budget 
2014 2015 2016

$62,658 $63,176 $8,676

REVENUES

Intergovernmental Revenue
State of KS Gas Tax $245,697 $245,500 $245,850

CARS Reimbursements $0 $0 $0

Other Intergovernmental Revenue $0 $0 $0

    Interest $0 $0 $0

Transfers from Other Funds $0 $0 $0

TOTAL REVENUES $245,697 $245,500 $245,850

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services $10,000 $0 $0

Contractual Services $0 $0 $0

Commodities $0 $0 $0

Capital Outlay $235,179 $300,000 $200,000

Debt Service $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $245,179 $300,000 $200,000

.

$63,176 $8,676 $54,526

bridges and appurtenances (e.g. curbing, streetlights, drainage structures).  May also be used for personnel
services expenses for employees performing these functions.  Accounts for monies sent quarterly from the
State Treasurer's office in compliance with K.S.A. 79-3452C.

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

Fund Sources:  State of Kansas Gasoline Tax, County Assisted Road System (CARS) reimbursements, interest, 

transfers from other funds, and State or Federal Grant funds.

Guidelines: Used for construction, reconstruction, alteration, repair and maintenance of streets, highways,



Actual Estimate Budget 
2014 2015 2016

$429,905 $517,464 $193,649

REVENUES

    Sales Tax $558,473 $550,000 $550,000
    Interest $31 $30 $30
Transfers from Other Funds $0 $0 $0

TOTAL REVENUES $558,504 $550,030 $550,030

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services $0 $0 $0
Contractual Services $0 $0 $0
Commodities $0 $0 $0
Capital Outlay $0 $0 $200,000
Debt Service $470,945 $698,845 $470,870
Contingency/Reserves/Transfers $0 $175,000 $50,000

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $470,945 $873,845 $720,870

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31 $517,464 $193,649 $22,809

Guidelines:  Established to account for revenues received from 1/4 of one percent sales tax for streets, pledged to retire
the Series 2012-A General Obligation Bonds issued for the Martway/Johnson Drive rehabilitation projects.

Fund:  Debt Service - Sales Tax Bonds - Streets

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Fund Sources:  1/4 of 1% General Sales tax.  Effective April 1, 2012.  Sales tax sunsets in 10 years.



Actual Estimate Budget
2014 2015 2016

$4,790,755 $196,847 $36,291

REVENUES

    Bond Proceeds $0 $0 $0
    Interest $231 $450 $500
    Intergovernmental Revenue $893,044 $1,574,721 $0
    Miscellaneous Revenue $41,599 $0 $0
    Sale of Fixed Assets $0 $0 $0

$12,673 $6,750 $0
    Mission Pet Mart Loan $64,360 $64,360 $64,360
    Transfers from Other Funds $0 $0 $833,000

TOTAL REVENUES $1,011,907 $1,646,281 $897,860

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services $44,045 $0 $0
Contractual Services $97,816 $20,000 $0
Commodities $0 $0 $0
Capital Outlay $4,795,632 $1,593,337 $484,000
Debt Service $588,322 $193,500 $370,314
Contingency/Reserves/Transfers $80,000 $0 $0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $5,605,815 $1,806,837 $854,314

$196,847 $36,291 $79,837

Guidelines:  Accounts for resources used to construct and maintain infrastructure city-wide in accordance with a
5-Year Capital Improvement Plan or to cover debt service obligations for capital infrastructure projects.

Fund:  Capital Improvement

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

West Gateway Plan Review Fees

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

Fund Sources: Sales Tax, interest, transfers, intergovernmental revenues and proceeds from bond issues. 



Actual Estimated Budget 
2014 2015 2016

$1,078,816 $58,386 $4,948 

REVENUES

    Transportation Utility Fees $766,872 $770,000 $0 

    Miscellaneous Revenue $0 $0 $0 

Intergovernmental Revenue $705,261 $65,000 $0 

Reimbursed Expenses $0 $0 $0 

Bond Proceeds $0 $0 $0 

    Interest $80 $75 $0 

Transfers from Other Funds $0 $0 $0 

TOTAL REVENUES $1,472,213 $835,075 $0 

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services $0 $0 $0 

Contractual Services $5,313 $10,900 $0 

Commodities $0 $0 $0 

Capital Outlay $115,136 $0 $0 

Debt Service $2,372,194 $877,613 $0 

$0 $0 $0 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $2,492,643 $888,513 $0 

$58,386 $4,948 $4,948

Guidelines:  Established to account for transportation utility charges received based on an established land-use

formula per parcel to fund street and other transportation related improvements.

Fund:  Transportation

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

Fund Sources:  Transportation Utility fees, interest, intergovernmental revenue and transfers from other funds.



Actual Estimate Budget 
2014 2015 2016

$166,621 $118,334 $15,078

REVENUES

    Alcohol Tax $45,517 $42,800 $42,800

    Interest $0 $0 $0

    Miscellaneous $0 $0 $0

Transfers from Other Funds $0 $0 $0

TOTAL REVENUES $45,517 $42,800 $42,800

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services $0 $0 $0

Contractual Services $0 $0 $0

Commodities $0 $0 $0

Capital Outlay $93,804 $85,000 $0

Debt Service/Lease Payments $0 $61,056 $55,200

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers $0 $0 $0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $93,804 $146,056 $55,200

$118,334 $15,078 $2,678

programs and facilities.

Fund:  Special Parks & Recreation

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Fund Sources:  Special Alcohol Tax.  K.S.A. 79-41a04

Guidelines:  Used for the purchase, establishment, maintenance or expansion of park and recreational services,



Actual Estimate Budget 
2014 2015 2016

$3,524,039 $671,668 $477,518

REVENUES

    Sales Tax $837,709 $775,000 $775,000

    Interest $0 $0 $0

Bond Proceeds $0 $0 $0

Transfers from Other Funds $0 $0 $0

TOTAL REVENUES $837,709 $775,000 $775,000

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services $0 $0 $0

Contractual Services $0 $0 $0

Commodities $0 $0 $0

Capital Outlay $3,059,977 $305,500 $183,850

Debt Service $530,103 $528,650 $526,450

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers $100,000 $135,000 $110,000

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $3,690,080 $969,150 $820,300

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31 $671,668 $477,518 $432,218

dedicated to other parks and recreation activities, including operating costs.

Fund:  Sales Tax - Parks & Recreation

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Fund Sources:  3/8 of 1% General Sales Tax.  Effective April 1, 2013.  Sales tax sunsets in 10 years.

Guidelines:  Established to account for revenues received from 3/8 of one percent sales tax for parks and recreation, a portion

is pledged to retire the Series 2013-B General Obligation Bonds issued for the outdoor aquatic facility project.  The balance is 



Fund:  Special Alcohol

Actual Estimate Budget
2014 2015 2016

$15,778 $21,626 $14,426

REVENUES

    Alcohol Tax $45,517 $42,800 $42,800

    Interest $0 $0 $0

Transfers from Other Funds $0 $0 $0

TOTAL REVENUES $45,517 $42,800 $42,800

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services $10,000 $15,000 $15,000

Contractual Services $29,669 $35,000 $30,000

Commodities $0 $0 $0

Capital Outlay $0 $0 $0

Debt Service $0 $0 $0

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers $0 $0 $0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $39,669 $50,000 $45,000

$21,626 $14,426 $12,226

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Fund Sources:  Special Alcohol Tax.  K.S.A. 79-41a-04

Guidelines: To be used for treating or preventing alcohol/drug abuse.  Most funds are allocated through the Drug

and Alcohol Council.  A portion of the funds may be used for Mission's DARE Officer.



Fund:  Solid Waste Utility

Actual Estimate Budget 
2014 2015 2016

$0 $1,212 $5,212 

REVENUES

    Interest $0 $0 $0

Solid Waste Utility Fees $482,233 $482,000 $483,000

    Trash/Yard Waste Stickers $1,964 $2,000 $2,000

Recycling Rebate $504 $1,000 $1,000

Transfers from Other Funds $85,000 $85,000 $85,000

TOTAL REVENUES $569,701 $570,000 $571,000

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services $0 $0 $0

Contractual Services $566,489 $565,000 $565,000

Commodities $2,000 $1,000 $500

Capital Outlay $0 $0 $0

Debt Service $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $568,489 $566,000 $565,500

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31 $1,212 $5,212 $10,712

the City.

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers

Fund Sources:  Solid Waste Utility Fees, Recycling Rebates, Interest and Transfers from other funds.

Guidelines:  Resources used for the payment of costs related to the provision of residential solid waste services in



Actual Estimate Budget
2014 2015 2016

$53,447 $54,960 $41,960 

REVENUES

$23,893 $20,000 $24,000 
    Interest $0 $0 $0 

$43,018 $5,000 $15,000 

Art Council Revenue $2,881 $0 $0 

Holiday Adoption Revenue $7,280 $5,000 $5,000 

    Miscellaneous Revenue $0 $0 $0 

TOTAL REVENUES $77,072 $30,000 $44,000 

EXPENDITURES
MCVB General Expenses $1,149 $1,000 $1,000 
Mission Family Festival $4,957 $0 $0 
Arts & Eats Festival $23,378 $0 $0 
Holiday Lights Event $11,620 $12,000 $10,000 
Mission Merchants $3,442 $0 $0 
MCVB Magazine $22,033 $25,000 $25,000 
Arts Council Expenses $3,047 $0 $0 
Holiday Adoptions $5,933 $5,000 $5,000 

$0 $0 $0 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $75,559 $43,000 $41,000 

$54,960 $41,960 $44,960

Fund:  Mission Convention and Visitors Bureau

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

    Transient Guest Tax Receipts

    Event Sponsorship/Revenue

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

Guidelines: To be used for the promotion of convention and tourism, attracting people to the City of Mission.

Fund Sources:  Transient Guest Tax receipts, sponsorships, special event revenue



Actual Estimate Budget
2014 2015 2016

$0 $0 $0 

REVENUES

TIF Property Taxes $0 $128,000 $75,000 
TIF Sales Tax $0 $56,000 $56,000 
CID Sales Tax $0 $56,000 $56,000 

Interest $0 $0 $0 

Miscellaneous $0 $0 $0 

Transfers from Other Funds $0 $0 $0 

TOTAL REVENUES $0 $240,000 $187,000 

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services $0 $0 $0 
Contractual Services $0 $240,000 $187,000 
Commodities $0 $0 $0 
Capital Outlay $0 $0 $0 
Debt Service $0 $0 $0 

$0 $0 $0 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $0 $240,000 $187,000 

$0 $0 $0

Fund Sources:  Transient Guest Tax receipts, sponsorships, special event revenue

Guidelines: To be used for the promotion of convention and tourism, attracting people to the City of Mission.

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers

Fund:  Mission Crossing TIF 

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31



Actual Estimate Budget
2014 2015 2016

$2,506 $2,515 $2,515 

REVENUES

    Taxes $2,559 $2,500 $2,500 
    Interest $0 $0 $0 
    Special Assessments $0 $0 $0 
    Bond Proceeds $0 $0 $0 
    Transfers from Other Funds $0 $0 $0 

TOTAL REVENUES $2,559 $2,500 $2,500 

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services $0 $0 $0 
Contractual Services $0 $0 $0 
Commodities $0 $0 $0 
Capital Outlay $0 $0 $0 
Debt Service $2,550 $2,500 $4,000 

$0 $0 $0 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $2,550 $2,500 $4,000 

$2,515 $2,515 $1,015

storm drainage flowing into and/or out of the storm drainage district.  May also be used for debt service 
associated with the construction, maintenance, repair or replacement of same storm sewers and drains.

Rock Creek Drainage District #1

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers

Fund Sources:  Property Tax, Special Assessments, Interest and Transfers from other funds

Guidelines:  For construction, maintenance, repair or replacement of storm sewers and storm drains
contained within the storm drainage district or within the watershed in the City that contributed to the



Actual Estimate Budget 
2014 2015 2016

$4,415 $3,758 $2,258 

REVENUES

Taxes $76,343 $73,500 $75,000 
    Interest $0 $0 $0 
    Special Assessments $0 $0 $0 
    Bond Proceeds $0 $0 $0 

$0 $0 $0 

TOTAL REVENUES $76,343 $73,500 $75,000 

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services $0 $0 $0 
Contractual Services $0 $0 $0 
Commodities $0 $0 $0 
Capital Outlay $0 $0 $0 
Debt Service $77,000 $75,000 $75,000 

$0 $0 $0 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $77,000 $75,000 $75,000 

$3,758 $2,258 $2,258

contained within the storm drainage district or within the watershed in the City that contributed to the
storm drainage flowing into and/or out of the drainage district.  May also be used for debt service
associated with the construction, maintenance, repair or replacement of same storm sewers and drains.

Rock Creek Drainage District #2

Guidelines:  For construction, maintenance, repair or replacement of storm sewers and storm drains

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

    Transfers from Other Funds

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers

Fund Sources:  Property Tax, Special Assessments, Interest and Transfers from other funds



Fund:  Bond & Interest

Actual Estimate Budget 
2014 2015 2016

$5,682 $614 $0

REVENUES

    Taxes
Property Tax $117,738 $0 $0

Delinquent Property Tax $1,357 $0 $0

Motor Vehicle Tax $13,833 $0 $0

    Interest $4 $0 $0

Special Assessments $0 $0 $0

Transfers from Other Funds $6,900 $0 $0

TOTAL REVENUES $139,832 $0 $0

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services $0 $0 $0

Contractual Services $0 $0 $0

Commodities $0 $0 $0

Capital Outlay $0 $0 $0

Debt Service $144,900 $0 $0

$0 $614 $0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $144,900 $614 $0

$614 $0 $0

Guidelines:  Resources used for the payment of principal, interest and related costs of the general obligation

bonds other than sales tax bonds, as well as certain other long-term obligations of the City.

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Contingency/Reserves/Transfers

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

Fund Sources:  Property Tax, Motor Vehicle Tax, Special Assessments, Interest and Transfers from 

other funds.



 

City of Mission  Item Number:  6f. 

ACTION ITEM SUMMARY  Date:  July 31, 2015 

Administration  From:  Laura Smith 
Action items require a vote to recommend the item to full City Council for further action. 
 

RE: 20162020 CIP Resolution 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approve the Resolution adopting the recommended City of 
Mission’s Community Investment Program (CIP) for 20162020. 
 
DETAILS:   As a part of the annual budget process, the Governing Body has historically 
adopted a resolution which outlines and describes the financial policies, tax and fee 
structures and other related issues included in the recommended budget for the 
upcoming fiscal year.  For the last several years, the Governing Body has also adopted 
a Resolution that detailed a fiveyear infrastructure plan/program  a Community 
Investment Program (CIP). 
 
The revenues programmed in the CIP for 2016 are included in the 2016 Recommended 
budget, the remaining years of the CIP are designed to be fluid and flexible in order to 
evaluate and address changes in resources or priorities.  Consistent with last year’s 
Resolution, projects which have been identified or discussed but were not included in 
the 20162020 CIP are outlined in the body of the Resolution so that there is a public 
record/reminder of historical considerations. 
 
Approval of the 20162020 CIP does not commit the City to any specific expenditures 
beyond those contemplated in 2016. 
 

 

Related Statute/City Ordinance:   

Line Item Code/Description:   

Available Budget:   

 



CITY OF MISSION, KANSAS 
RESOLUTION NO. _____ 

  
A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE 20162020 COMMUNITY INVESTMENT 
PROGRAM (CIP) FOR THE CITY OF MISSION, KANSAS. 
  

WHEREAS, the City of Mission, faces significant infrastructure projects, 
including, streets, stormwater, and public facilities necessary to maintain property 
values and encourage additional privatesector redevelopment; and 

 
WHEREAS, in Citywide surveys conducted by ETC in 2007, 2011, and 2015 

the citizens of Mission articulated redevelopment as the top priority facing the city; 
and 
  

WHEREAS, the City of Mission, has invested over $70 million in 
infrastructure during the past ten years in support of both public and privatesector 
goals; and 
   

WHEREAS, a multiyear CIP is widely recognized as an important planning 
and budgeting document for municipalities; and 

 
WHEREAS, the CIP contains expenditures to actively construct and maintain 

capital projects as well as to pay debt service on bonds issued for infrastructure 
improvements; and 
  

WHEREAS, the annual adoption of a CIP does not commit the city to any 
expenditures and is simply a forecasting tool for the annual budget process; and 
  

WHEREAS, the CIP better positions the city to solicit external funds to help 
fund infrastructure projects in the City of Mission, 
  

NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Governing Body of the City of 
Mission: 
  

Section 1. The 20162020 CIP is adopted.  The City expects to receive 
approximately $5,001,650 million of revenue and spend $5,120,718 
million in expenditures as part of the 2016 budget related to the 
Community Investment Program.  Carryover balances from the prior year 
are used to make up the difference between revenues and expenditures in 
the 2016 budget. 
 
Section 2. In 2016, the CIP will fund projects and debt service in three 
primary program areas as follows: 



a. Streets:  the annual chip seal/mill and overlay program on residential 
streets, and debt service related to street repair/replacement.  In 
addition, there are funds available which could be used to address 
sidewalk repair and maintenance to improve pedestrian connectivity 
throughout the City. 

b. Stormwater:  Debt service for completed stormwater projects.  
c. Parks & Recreation:  debt service for the outdoor aquatic facility, 

facility and equipment maintenance for the Sylvester Powell Jr., 
Community Center and the creation of reserve funds for facility and 
outdoor parks maintenance or improvements.   

 
Section 3. The Governing Body acknowledges that there are other 
infrastructure projects which have been identified but are not included in 
the 20162020 CIP.  These include, but are not limited to:  
  
a. Street construction projects for Barkley St (57th St to 61st St), 

Broadmoor St (Johnson Dr to Martway St), Johnson Dr (Lamar Ave to 
Metcalf Ave, and Metcalf Ave (56th St to 61st St).  Each of these public 
projects would likely be pursued in partnership with private 
redevelopment by adjacent property owners. 

b. Completing the remediation of the Rock Creek Floodplain and establish 
a Secondary Stormwater System Construction Program. 

c. Supporting Downtown Mission redevelopment via public parking, public 
parkland, and a local market that considers the priorities established 
by the Downtown Visioning Committee as acknowledged by the 
Governing Body in Resolution 849 on November 16, 2011. 

d. Locate Administrative and Public Safety personnel in facilities that can 
sustainably meet the longterm needs of the city. 

e. Evaluating the results of the Park Master Plan as it relates to priority 
and potential development of the secondary trail system to connect 
neighborhoods to the primary system. 

f. Recommendations yet to be received from the Park Master Plan for 
recommended maintenance or improvements to the Neighborhood 
Park System (Andersen, Broadmoor, Waterworks, Mohawk, and 
Streamway Parks). 

 
THIS RESOLUTION IS PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF MISSION, this 19th day of August 2015. 
  

THIS RESOLUTION IS APPROVED BY THE MAYOR this 19th day of 
August 2015. 
  
 



  
_______________________________ 

     Steve Schowengerdt, Mayor   
 
ATTEST: 
  
  
_____________________________ 
Martha Sumrall, City Clerk 
 





2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Revenues
Beginning Balance 504,678 385,610 (815,867) (2,255,335) (1,811,742)

Local Revenue 4,713,000 4,688,000 5,288,000 5,288,000 5,288,000

External Revenue 288,650 636,260 2,286,260 286,260 286,260

Debt Proceeds 0 0 0 0 0

Total CIP Revenues 5,001,650 5,324,260 7,574,260 5,574,260 5,574,260

Expenses

Capital Projects 667,963 2,070,385 4,535,405 569,000 527,500

Maintenance/Operations Programs 510,000 545,000 560,000 560,000 560,000

Debt Service 3,942,755 3,945,352 3,968,323 4,051,667 4,050,992 Remaining Debt Service
$18,170,295

Total CIP Expenses 5,120,718 6,560,737 9,063,728 5,180,667 5,138,492

Ending Balance 385,610 (850,867) (2,305,335) (1,861,742) (1,375,974)

2016-2020 Community Investment Program - Overview



2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Revenues
Beginning Balance 504,678 385,610 (815,867) (2,255,335) (1,811,742)

Streets 171,690 174,494 (870,739) (2,775,763) (2,663,026)

Stormwater 87,314 47,995 3,076 539,932 989,738

Parks & Recreation 245,674 163,121 51,796 (19,504) (138,454)

Local Revenue

Streets 1,383,000 1,358,000 1,358,000 1,358,000 1,358,000

Stormwater 2,580,000 2,580,000 3,180,000 3,180,000 3,180,000

Parks & Recreation 750,000 750,000 750,000 750,000 750,000

External Revenue

Streets 245,850 593,460 2,243,460 243,460 243,460

Stormwater 0 0 0 0 0

Parks & Recreation 42,800 42,800 42,800 42,800 42,800

Debt Proceeds

Streets 0 0 0 0 0

Stormwater 0 0 0 0 0

Parks & Recreation 0 0 0 0 0

Total CIP Revenues 5,001,650 5,324,260 7,574,260 5,574,260 5,574,260

Expenses

Capital Projects

Streets 434,113 1,803,185 4,317,405 300,000 300,000

Stormwater 0 0 0 0 0

Parks & Recreation 233,850 267,200 218,000 269,000 227,500

Maintenance/Operations Programs

Streets 450,000 450,000 450,000 450,000 450,000

Stormwater 0 35,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

Parks & Recreation 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000

Debt Service Remaining Debt Service
Streets 741,933 743,508 739,079 738,723 737,323 $1,753,367

Stormwater 2,619,319 2,624,919 2,643,144 2,730,194 2,729,569 $14,826,028

Parks & Recreation 581,503 576,925 586,100 582,750 584,100 $1,590,900

Total CIP Expenses 5,120,718 6,560,737 9,063,728 5,180,667 5,138,492

Ending Balance 385,610 (850,867) (2,305,335) (1,861,742) (1,375,974)
Streets 174,494 (870,739) (2,775,763) (2,663,026) (2,548,889)

Stormwater 47,995 (31,924) 489,932 939,738 1,390,169

Parks & Recreation 163,121 51,796 (19,504) (138,454) (217,254)

2016-2020 Community Investment Program - Summary by Program Area



2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Revenues
Beginning Balance* 739,027 171,690 174,494 (870,739) (2,775,763) (2,663,026)

Local Revenue

Transportation Utility Fund Revenues 770,000 0 0 0 0 0

7 mills dedicated to streets 833,000 833,000 833,000 833,000 833,000

0.25% Street Sales Tax Revenues - existing 550,000 550,000 525,000 525,000 525,000 525,000

Sub-total 1,320,000 1,383,000 1,358,000 1,358,000 1,358,000 1,358,000

External Revenue

CARS Reimbursements 1,229,721 0 350,000 2,000,000 0 0

Special Highway 243,300 245,850 243,460 243,460 243,460 243,460

Miscellaneous Revenues 345,000 0 0 0 0 0

Sub-total 1,818,021 245,850 593,460 2,243,460 243,460 243,460

Debt Proceeds

Sub-total 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Street Revenues 3,138,021 1,628,850 1,951,460 3,601,460 1,601,460 1,601,460

Expenses

Capital Projects

Johnson Drive 1,593,337

Foxridge (56th to 51st) 134,113 714,285

Foxridge (51st to Lamar) 788,900 4,017,405

Full-depth Reconstruction Projects (non-CARS eligible) 50,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000

Sub-total 1,643,337 434,113 1,803,185 4,317,405 300,000 300,000

Maintenance Programs

Street Maintenance Program (seal and mill/overlay) 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000

PW Maintenance Programs (sidewalks, traffic safety) 65,000 75,000 75,000 75,000 75,000 75,000

Bridge Maintenance/Administrative Costs 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

Sub-total 440,000 450,000 450,000 450,000 450,000 450,000

Debt Service

Remaining Debt Service/ Year 
Retires

Nall Avenue Debt Service (2011A) 877,613

Johnson Drive/Martway Debt Service (2012A) 473,845 470,870 472,045 472,316 471,660 470,060 $947,017 (2022)

Jo Drive - Street Portion (2013C) 270,563 271,063 271,463 266,763 267,063 267,263 $806,350 (2023)

Sub-total 1,622,021 741,933 743,508 739,079 738,723 737,323

Total Street Expenses 3,705,358 1,626,046 2,996,693 5,506,484 1,488,723 1,487,323

Ending Balance 171,690 174,494 (870,739) (2,775,763) (2,663,026) (2,548,889)

Street Program Plan (2016-2020) - 7 mills and No Sales Tax (Scenario 1A)



2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Revenues
Beginning Balance* 739,027 721,690 1,274,494 779,261 (575,763) 86,974

Local Revenue

Transportation Utility Fund Revenues 770,000 0 0 0 0 0

7 mills dedicated to streets 833,000 833,000 833,000 833,000 833,000

0.25% Street Sales Tax Revenues - existing 550,000 550,000 525,000 525,000 525,000 525,000

0.25% Street Sales Tax - new 550,000 550,000 550,000 550,000 550,000 550,000

Sub-total 1,870,000 1,933,000 1,908,000 1,908,000 1,908,000 1,908,000

External Revenue

CARS Reimbursements 1,229,721 0 350,000 2,000,000 0 0

Special Highway 243,300 245,850 243,460 243,460 243,460 243,460

Miscellaneous Revenues 345,000 0 0 0 0 0

Sub-total 1,818,021 245,850 593,460 2,243,460 243,460 243,460

Debt Proceeds

Sub-total 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Street Revenues 3,688,021 2,178,850 2,501,460 4,151,460 2,151,460 2,151,460

Expenses

Capital Projects

Johnson Drive 1,593,337

Foxridge (56th to 51st) 134,113 714,285

Foxridge (51st to Lamar) 788,900 4,017,405

Full-depth Reconstruction Projects (non-CARS eligible) 50,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000

Sub-total 1,643,337 434,113 1,803,185 4,317,405 300,000 300,000

Maintenance Programs

Street Maintenance Program (seal and mill/overlay) 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000

PW Maintenance Programs (sidewalks, traffic safety) 65,000 75,000 75,000 75,000 75,000 75,000

Bridge Maintenance/Administrative Costs 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

Sub-total 440,000 450,000 450,000 450,000 450,000 450,000

Debt Service

Remaining Debt Service/ Year 
Retires

Nall Avenue Debt Service (2011A) 877,613

Johnson Drive/Martway Debt Service (2012A) 473,845 470,870 472,045 472,316 471,660 470,060 $947,017 (2022)

Jo Drive - Street Portion (2013C) 270,563 271,063 271,463 266,763 267,063 267,263 $806,350 (2023)

Sub-total 1,622,021 741,933 743,508 739,079 738,723 737,323

Total Street Expenses 3,705,358 1,626,046 2,996,693 5,506,484 1,488,723 1,487,323

Ending Balance 721,690 1,274,494 779,261 (575,763) 86,974 751,111

Street Program Plan (2016-2020) - 7 mills and New 1/4-cent Sales Tax (Scenario 1B)



2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Revenues
Beginning Balance 127,198 87,314 47,995 3,076 539,932 989,738

Local Revenue

Stormwater Utility Fund Revenues 2,050,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000

Drainage District Revenues 80,000 80,000 80,000 80,000 80,000 80,000

Transfer from General Fund for Debt Service 485,000

Transfer from CIP Fund for Debt Service

Gateway Special Benefit District Revenues 600,000 600,000 600,000

Sub-total 2,615,000 2,580,000 2,580,000 3,180,000 3,180,000 3,180,000

Extenal Revenue

SMAC Revenues

Miscellaneous Revenues

Sub-total 0 0 0 0 0 0

Debt Proceeds

Sub-total 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Stormwater Revenues 2,615,000 2,580,000 2,580,000 3,180,000 3,180,000 3,180,000

Expenses

Capital Projects

Sub-total 0 0 0 0 0 0

Maintenance Programs

Repair and Maintenance Fund 35,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

Stormwater Administrative Costs

Miscellaneous Engineering

Sub-total 0 0 35,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

Debt Service/Loan Repayment Remaining Debt Service/ Year Retires
KDHE ARRA Loan Repayment 6,562 6,562 6,562 6,562 6,562 6,562 $    75,465 (2031)

GO Series 2010A 367,913 366,613 367,813 368,738 369,388 364,763

GO Series 2010B 279,131 279,131 279,131 279,131 279,131 974,131 $7,333,150 (2029)
GO Series 2013C - Stormwater Portion 283,075 283,375 283,575 283,675 283,675 283,575 $  853,450 (2023)

GO Series 2014-A 343,027 324,838 321,838 1,389,838 1,741,438 1,050,538 $6,563,963 (2029)

GO Series 2014-B 1,375,176 1,358,800 1,331,000 265,200 0 0

Sub-total 2,654,884 2,619,319 2,589,919 2,593,144 2,680,194 2,679,569

Total Stormwater Expenses 2,654,884 2,619,319 2,624,919 2,643,144 2,730,194 2,729,569

Ending Balance 87,314 47,995 3,076 539,932 989,738 1,440,169

Stormwater Program Plan (2016-2020) - $5/ERU Increase



Revenues
Beginning Balance 554,080 245,674 163,121 51,796 (19,504) (138,454)

Local Revenue

0.375% Parks & Recreation Sales Tax Revenues 775,000 750,000 750,000 750,000 750,000 750,000

Transfers/other

Sub-total 775,000 750,000 750,000 750,000 750,000 750,000

External Revenue

Special Parks & Recreation Revenues 42,800 42,800 42,800 42,800 42,800 42,800

Sub-total 42,800 42,800 42,800 42,800 42,800 42,800

Debt Proceeds

Sub-total 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Parks and Recreation Revenues 817,800 792,800 792,800 792,800 792,800 792,800

Expenses

Capital Projects

Mission Crossing Park 95,000

Park Improvement Fund 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

Replace Mohawk Walking Trail 75,000

MFAC Improvements/Equipment Replacement Addition of second slide tower 95,000

SPJCC Improvements/Equipment Replacement 230,500 183,850 122,200 168,000 219,000 177,500

Dishwashers (2) 2,500 A&B Carpet/Flooring 20,000 Refrigerators 10,000 Small Kaivac 5,000 Seated Rider Scrubber 16,000 Pool Pak Replacement 65,000
Refurbish Indoor Water Slide 12,000 Aerobics Room Sound 2,000 A&B Banquet Chairs 13,000 Gym Dividers (2) 25,000 Selectorize Equipment 45,000 Conference Center Banquet Chairs 30,000
Conference Center Upgrades 50,000 Step Equipment 4,350 Dance Floor - Conference 3,000 Star Track Spinner Bikes (1/2) 12,500 Small Kaivac 5,000 Indoor Track Resurfacing 75,000

Small Kaivac 4,000 Pool Vacuums 6,000 6' Rectangular Tables 8,200 Pool Pak Replacement 65,000 Adult Lounge Furniture 3,000

MTX Equipment 60,000 Gymnastic Mats 6,500 Round Tables (42) 7,500 Sound System A&B 10,000 Pool Pak Replacement 65,000

Hot Tub retile 17,000 Stoves (2) 2,000 Pool Resurfacing 50,000 Free Weight Equipment 28,000 Locker Room Flooring 40,000

Recedar Sauna 20,000 Flat Panel TVs 5,000 Conference Center Projectors 15,000 Steam Room retiling 15,000 Elevator Maintenance 25,000

Roof Repairs/Evaluation 20,000 Cameras 12,500 Replace Back-Up Battery Sytem 8,000 Star Track Spinner Bikes (1/2) 12,500

Conference Center Video 30,000 Phone System 18,000

Natatorium Painting 15,000 Parking Lot/Sidewalks 100,000

Computer Replacement 7,500 Computer Replacement 7,500 Computer Replacement 7,500 Computer Replacement 7,500 Computer Replacement 7,500

Sub-total 450,500 233,850 267,200 218,000 269,000 227,500

Maintenance/Operations

Parks Master Plan

Facility Reserve Funds (SPJCC) 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

Facility Reserve Funds (MFAC) 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

Transfer to General Fund for Operations 25,000

Sub-total 85,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000

Debt Service/Lease Payments

Outdoor Aquatic Facility Debt Service (2013B) 529,650 526,450 529,000 531,100 527,750 529,100 $1,590,900 (2023)

Cardio Equipment Lease 46,800 47,925 47,925 55,000 55,000 55,000 on-going lease

HVAC Controller Lease 14,256 7,128

Sub-total 590,706 581,503 576,925 586,100 582,750 584,100

Total Parks & Recreation Expenses 1,126,206 875,353 904,125 864,100 911,750 871,600
Ending Balance (unreserved) 245,674 163,121 51,796 (19,504) (138,454) (217,254)

SJPCC Reserve Funds 50,000 SJPCC Reserve Funds 50,000 SJPCC Reserve Funds 50,000 SJPCC Reserve Funds 50,000 SJPCC Reserve Funds 50,000 SJPCC Reserve Funds 50,000

MFAC Reserve Funds 10,000 MFAC Reserve Funds 10,000 MFAC Reserve Funds 10,000 MFAC Reserve Funds 10,000 MFAC Reserve Funds 10,000 MFAC Reserve Funds 10,000
Park Improvement Funds 50,000 Park Improvement Funds 50,000 Park Improvement Funds 50,000 Park Improvement Funds 50,000 Park Improvement Funds 50,000 Park Improvement Funds 50,000

SPJCC Cumulative Total 215,000 SPJCC Cumulative Total 265,000 SPJCC Cumulative Total 315,000 SPJCC Cumulative Total 365,000 SPJCC Cumulative Total 415,000 SPJCC Cumulative Total 465,000

MFAC Cumulative Total 10,000 MFAC Cumulative Total 20,000 MFAC Cumulative Total 30,000 MFAC Cumulative Total 40,000 MFAC Cumulative Total 50,000 MFAC Cumulative Total 60,000

Park Improvement Cumulative Total 50,000 Park Improvement Cumulative Total 100,000 Park Improvement Cumulative Total 150,000 Park Improvement Cumulative Total 200,000 Park Improvement Cumulative Total 250,000 Park Improvement Cumulative Total 300,000

2020
Parks & Recreation Program Plan (2016-2020)

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019



 

City of Mission  Item Number:  6g. 

ACTION ITEM SUMMARY  Date:  July 31, 2015 

Community Development  From:  Glen Cole &  
James Gorham 

Action items require a vote to recommend the item to full City Council for further action. 

 
RE: Accessory Animal Ordinance  Providing for chickens and beekeeping in the City of                           
Mission 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approve the ordinance amending Chapter 210: Animal Control of the                     
Municipal Code. 

DETAILS: Following discussion at the Committee’s June and July meetings, staff has prepared                         
an ordinance for adoption by the City Council that would allow Mission residents to keep                             
chickens and bees on residential property.  

The ordinance includes a permitting process which was modeled after the City of Shawnee’s                           
Special Animal Permit. It establishes a robust process where permits for chicken keeping and                           
beekeeping (“Accessory Animal Permits”) are administered and issued by City staff.                     
Requirements specific to chicken keeping are similar to those adopted by Roeland Park, and                           
the requirements for beekeeping are modeled after those enforced by Prairie Village. Staff                         
recommends adopting an annual fee of $50.00, which is the expected cost of administration                           
necessary by the City Clerk and Neighborhood Services for each permit. 

The ordinance imposes a number of requirements on wouldbe permittees. Most importantly,                       
the ordinance would not allow persons with a history of animal and/or code enforcement                           
violations to obtain a permit. The language used takes into account a variety of ordinance                             
violations, such as animals running at large, unsafe or unhealthy animal keeping practices,                         
inoperable vehicles, junk and rubbish piles, and failure to keep weeds and grass at an                             
acceptable height. 

A summary of the key provisions included in the draft ordinance are summarized for your review                               
and information. Following final legal review, two minor changes have been made to the draft                             
ordinance since the July committee meeting; these changes are highlighted in yellow. 

 

Related Statute/City Ordinance:  Chapter 210 of the Mission Municipal Code 

Line Item Code/Description:  N/A 

Available Budget:  N/A  

 



Key Provisions of Existing Ordinance 
 

 

210.130: Running At Large Unlawful 

It shall be unlawful for any animal or fowl to run or be at large within the City limits or on the 

private property of any other person or firm than the owner, keeper or harborer of such 

animal or fowl. The owner, keeper or harborer of any animal or fowl shall be responsible for 

any animal or fowl running at large. Knowledge, intent or scienter is not required for this 

offense. 

 

210.170: Animal Health Nuisance 

Any person who maintains any animal or fowl in any building, pen or enclosure on his/her 

premises which is not kept clean, sanitary and free from filth, debris, garbage and offensive 

odors at all times or which is or becomes offensive to those residing in the vicinity shall be 

deemed to be a nuisance. 

 

210.220: Noisy Animals 

It shall be a violation of this Section for any person, firm or corporation to own, keep, harbor 

or maintain any animal that makes loud, frequent, excessive or habitual barking, whining, 

braying, crying, howling, yelping or other species or breed specific noises between the 

hours of 10:00 P.M. and 7:00 A.M. or behaves in such prohibited manner as to disturb the 

peace of any neighborhood or immediate neighbor. Animal behavior as defined in this 

Section is hereby prohibited and declared to be a public nuisance. [...]   



Key Provisions of Proposed Ordinance 
 

Repeat Offenders Barred 
 

3. The applicant or permittee may not be the subject of more than three (3) of the 
following, in any combination: 

i.  Valid complaints submitted to the City documenting a violation of any section of 
Chapter 220, concerning public nuisances, within twelve (12) months preceding 
the date of the application; 

ii.  Valid violations of any section of Chapter 210, concerning animal control, within 
twentyfour (24) months preceding the date of the application, for which the 
applicant has been found guilty or entered a plea of guilty or no contest. 

Inspection Required 

2.  The applicant or permittee must successfully pass their most recent inspection 
relating to adequate shelter, food, water, yard condition, yard security, and animal 
health concerns, and compliance with this Chapter. An onsite inspection shall be 
performed prior to first issuance of an Accessory Animal Permit, and from time to 
time as described elsewhere in this Section. 

Chicken Requirements 

a. No more than six (6) adult fowl may be kept.  

b. Male chickens (roosters) shall not be kept.  

c. Fowl shall be kept in an adequate shelter, such as a aviary, coop, run, or 
tractor. Such shelter shall be located in the rear yard of the property at least ten 
(10) feet from the nearest property line. 

Beekeeping Requirements 

a. No more than two (2) hives shall be located on a single property. 

b. All hives shall be located in the rear yard of the property at least ten (10) feet 
from the nearest property line. 

c. The rear yard shall be surrounded by a exterior fence at least 42 inches in 
height. A flyway structure or barrier (such as shrubbery or fencing) shall be 
provided if the exterior fence is less than six (6) feet in height. 

d. The keeper shall maintain and manage hives to minimize swarming and 
prevent the creation of any public nuisance. 

e. A source of water shall be provided on the property at all times. 



ORDINANCE NO. _____ 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 210 OF THE CODE OF THE CITY OF MISSION,                         
KANSAS RELATING TO ANIMAL CONTROL AND THE REGULATION OF DOMESTIC                   
ANIMALS. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY 
OF MISSION, KANSAS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Section 210.010 is amended as follows: 

SECTION 210.010:  DEFINITIONS 

ANIMAL 

Any live dog, cat, rabbit, rodent, nonhuman primate, bird or other warmblooded 
vertebrate or any fish, snake or other coldblooded vertebrate.  

HIVE 

Any manmade habitation in which bees are harbored or kept, including 
beehives, standards, boxes, or apiaries. 

Section 2.  Section 210.060 is amended as follows; 

SECTION 210.060:  KEEPING OF LIVESTOCK OR FOWL PROHIBITED; 
EXCEPTIONS 

A. It shall be unlawful for any person, either as an owner or as an agent, 
representative, employee or bailee of any owner, to keep, harbor or maintain any 
horses, cattle, swine, goats, sheep, mules, asses, bees, rabbits, or fowl of any 
kind on any premises within the corporate limits within the City, except as set 
forth below. 

Exceptions:  

1.  Rabbits. Any person keeping rabbits shall comply with the following: 

a. Rabbits may be kept as pets, no more than three (3) adults and 
fourteen (14) young under the age of twelve (12) weeks. 

b. Rabbits may either be housed outdoors or in a fenced yard. 

i. If housed outdoors, rabbits shall be housed in hutches 
located in the rear yard of the property at least ten (10) feet 
from the nearest property line. 

ii. Rabbits may be maintained, with no distance requirements 
from residences or other establishments, in any fenced 
yard that is at least five hundred (500) square feet. Said 
fence shall be constructed of small, mesh wire that the 

http://ecode360.com/28333794#28333794


rabbit cannot escape through with the perimeter of the 
fence buried along the bottom to prevent the rabbit from 
burrowing out. Rabbit(s) fenced in a yard shall be provided 
with adequate housing for protection from the weather. 

2. Chickens. A person may keep chickens only after applying for and 
receiving an Accessory Animal Permit in accordance with the provisions 
of Section 210.065. Any person keeping chickens shall comply with the 
following: 

a. No more than six (6) adult chickens may be kept.  

b. Male chickens (“roosters”) shall not be kept.  

c. Chickens shall be kept in an adequate shelter, such as an aviary, 
coop, run, or tractor. Such shelter shall be located in the rear yard 
of the property at least ten (10) feet from the nearest property line. 

3.  Bees. A person may maintain a hive for the keeping of bees only after 
applying for and receiving an Accessory Animal Permit in accordance 
with the provisions of Section 210.065. Any person keeping bees shall 
comply with the following: 

a. No more than two (2) hives shall be located on a single property. 

b. All hives shall be located in the rear yard of the property at least 
ten (10) feet from the nearest property line. 

c. The rear yard shall be surrounded by a exterior fence at least 42 
inches in height. A flyway structure or barrier (such as shrubbery 
or fencing) shall be provided if the exterior fence is  less than six 
(6) feet in height. 

d. The keeper shall maintain and manage hives to minimize 
swarming and prevent the creation of any public nuisance. 

e. A source of water shall be provided on the property at all times. 

Section 3.  Section 210.065 is added as follows; 

SECTION 210.065:  ACCESSORY ANIMAL PERMITS 

A. Permit Required. No person shall have, keep, maintain or have in his/her 
possession or his/her control within the City any animal requiring a permit as set 
forth in Section 210.060 without first applying to and receiving a permit from the 
City Clerk as hereinafter provided. 

B. Application. Any Person desiring a new or renewal Accessory Animal Permit 
shall file an application with the City Clerk or his or her designee on a form 
provided by the City and remit a fee established by ordinance. The application 
shall identify the owner by name, address, and telephone number, the classes of 



animal to be kept at the property, and location and shelter facilities for the subject 
animal(s) so permitted. 

C. Requirements. At all times, applicants or permittees must comply with all of the 
following to be eligible to hold an Accessory Animal Permit: 

1. The applicant or permittee must comply with the requirements listed in 
Section 210.060 for the particular class of animal being kept. 

2. The applicant or permittee must successfully pass their most recent 
inspection relating to adequate shelter, food, water, yard condition, yard 
security, and animal health concerns, and compliance with this Chapter. 
An onsite inspection shall be performed prior to first issuance of an 
Accessory Animal Permit, and from time to time as described elsewhere 
in this Section. 

3. The applicant or permittee may not be the subject of more than three (3) 
of the following, in any combination: 

i. Valid complaints submitted to the City documenting a violation of 
any section of Chapter 220, concerning public nuisances, within 
twelve (12) months preceding the date of the application; 

ii. Valid violations of any section of Chapter 210, concerning 
animal control, within twentyfour (24) months preceding the date 
of the application, for which the applicant has been found guilty or 
entered a plea of guilty or no contest. 

D. Other Conditions of Permit. Accessory Animal Permits issued shall be valid from 
the date of issuance until the next succeeding March first (1st). Permits must be 
renewed annually. The fee for a permit shall not be calculated pro rata or 
refunded after issuance. Permits issued shall only be valid for the specific 
classes of animal, address, and applicant listed on the application. A new permit 
and application fee shall be required in the event that an applicant or permittee 
moves to a new address or transfers the animal(s) listed in the permit. 

E. Inspection. A Neighborhood Services Officer (“Officer”) or his/her designee may 
perform an inspection of the property of an applicant or permittee for any of the 
following reasons: 

a. The City Clerk or his or her designee require an inspection for first 
issuance of an Accessory Animal Permit or as a condition of renewal; 

b. The applicant or permittee has received a citation for violation of any 
section of this Chapter within the preceding twelve (12) months; 

c. The City has received a documented complaint from the owner, lessee, or 
occupant of a contiguous property concerning the conditions of the 
permit, including the animal(s) permitted or the manner in which the 
animal(s) are kept; 



d. The Officer has probable cause to believe a violation of this Chapter 
exists. 

The inspection shall verify that the applicant or permittee provides adequate 
shelter, food, water, yard condition, yard security, and other necessary conditions 
to preserve the health of the animal, and complies with the requirements of this 
Chapter. If any deficiency of these conditions is found, the applicant or permittee 
must correct such violation within such period of time as the Officer shall direct.  

F. Denial, revocation, cancellation, nonrenewal. The City Clerk or his or her 
designee may deny, revoke, cancel, or refuse to renew an Accessory Animal 
Permit if, at any time, the applicant or permittee: 

a. Fails to comply with any requirement of this Section or Section 210.060; 

b. Is the subject of an ongoing violation of this Chapter; 

c. Allows any animal under his or her control to habitually cause or to be a 
public nuisance as defined in Chapter 220; 

d. Refuses to allow an inspection of their property as elsewhere authorized 
by this Chapter; 

e. Has provided false information in his or her permit application. 

Section 4. Any person violating any of the provisions of this article shall, upon conviction 
thereof, be punished by a fine of not more than Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) or be 
imprisoned not to exceed thirty (30) days or be both so fined and imprisoned as set forth 
in Section 210.280. 

Section 5.  Section 103.115 is added as follows; 

SECTION 103.115:  ACCESSORY ANIMAL PERMITS 

For the first year and each subsequent permit renewal year: $50.00. 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED by the City Council this 19th day of August 2015. 
 
APPROVED by the Mayor this 19th day of August 2015. 
 
 
 
 

(SEAL) 

_________________________________ 
Steve Schowengerdt, Mayor 

 
 
 



 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Martha M. Sumrall, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
PAYNE & JONES, CHTD. 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
David K. Martin, City Attorney 
11000 King, Suite 200 
P. O. Box 25625 
Overland Park, KS 662255625 
Tel: (913) 4694100 
Fax: (913) 4698182 



 

City of Mission  Item Number:  6h. 

ACTION ITEM SUMMARY  Date:  August 5, 2015 

Administration   From:  Emily Randel 
Action items require a vote to recommend the item to full City Council for further action. 
 

RE: Downtown District Task Force Recommendations 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt a resolution that includes the recommendations of the Downtown 
District Task Force. 
 
DETAILS: In January 2015, Mayor Schowengerdt appointed a group of Mission residents and 
business owners to the Downtown District Task Force to continue the momentum of business 
activity and redevelopment following the completion of the Johnson Drive construction project. 
 
The group’s Statement of Purpose was “...to identify actions and partnerships that will provide 
greater opportunities to strengthen the growth and economic vitality of Mission’s Downtown 
District.” 
 
Through the course of monthly meetings January through June, the group:  

● Met with representatives from downtown groups in Overland Park and Olathe,  
● Hosted meetings with downtown Mission business owners, and 
● Discussed downtown development trends with David Harrison with VanTrust Real Estate. 

 
The group presented their recommendations to the Community Development Committee for                     
discussion at their July 1, 2015 meeting. The recommendations are now presented for formal                           
consideration and adoption in the form of the attached resolution. 

 

Related Statute/City Ordinance:  N/A 

Line Item Code/Description:  N/A 

Available Budget:  N/A 

 



RESOLUTION NO. 

A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING THE RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE DOWNTOWN 
DISTRICT TASK FORCE 

WHEREAS, the City pursued the Johnson Drive Redevelopment Project to fully 
reconstruct and reconfigure Johnson Drive in order to further the success of downtown property 
owners, businesses, patrons and the community, and; 

WHEREAS, increased private investment in downtown properties has occurred in the 
time since the start of the Johnson Drive construction project, and public reaction to the 
improvements has been positive, and; 

WHEREAS, this type of business activity is seen as important for the Mission community 
both as a key part of the community’s identity and for the positive financial impact it creates, and 

WHEREAS, the City Council convened the Downtown District Task Force composed of 
interested residents and business owners in January of 2015 to identify actions and 
partnerships that will provide greater opportunities to strengthen the growth and economic 
vitality of the Mission’s Downtown District, and; 

WHEREAS, the Downtown District Task Force has completed its work and has 
established a set of recommendations to be taken together for adoption and pursued by the City 
Council. 

NOW, THEREFORE, LET IT BE RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF 
MISSION, KANSAS: 

Section 1. The Mission City Council thanks the Downtown District Task Force for their 
diligent work and supports their findings and recommendations as follows: 

a. The downtown Mission businesses and property owners form a Business Association 
to attract new visitors, new businesses and to raise the profile of the area. 

b. The City form a Business Improvement District to create a sustainable funding source 
for future improvement and promotion of the district. 

c. The City develop a longterm and comprehensive marketing plan to promote the 
district. 

d. City staff add website content and printed materials that guide prospective business 
owners through the process of establishing their business in Mission. 

e. The Mission community including City staff, elected officials, business owners and 
volunteers continue to support community events that bring positive attention and 
increased visits to Mission. 



f. City staff implement the remaining recommendations of the 2014 Johnson Drive 
Parking Task Force. 

THIS RESOLUTION IS PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF MISSION, this 19th day of August 2015. 

THIS RESOLUTION IS APPROVED BY THE MAYOR this 19th day of August 2015. 

 

 

__________________________________ 
Steve Schowengerdt, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________________ 
Martha Sumrall, City Clerk 



 

City of Mission  Item Number:  6i. 

ACTION ITEM SUMMARY  Date:  July 31, 2015 

Community Development  From:  Danielle Murray 
Action items require a vote to recommend the item to full City Council for further action. 
 

RE: KDOT Agreement for Safe Routes To School Phase I Study 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approve, and authorize the Mayor to execute, the attached agreement with the 
Kansas Department of Transportation regarding the Safe Routes To School Phase I Study grant. 
 
DETAILS: The attached Project Agreement with the Kansas Department of Transportation is required to                           
begin work under the Safe Routes to School Phase I grant accepted by the City Council at their June                                     
meeting.  
 
The City has been awarded $20,000 in federal funding to perform a Safe Routes to School Phase I Study.                                     
The study will examine how students travel to four nearby schools: Highlands Elementary, Rushton                           
Elementary, Horizons High School, and Shawnee Mission North High School. It will measure vehicle,                           
bicycle, and pedestrian counts, and will ultimately provide a plan that shows opportunities to improve                             
bicycle and pedestrian safety for students traveling to these schools. Staff anticipates spending up to the                               
$5,000 (20%) allocated to be matched by the federal $20,000 (80%) up to a combined total of $25,000 on                                     
the study.   
 
The stated purpose of the Safe Routes to School (SRTS) program is to “substantially improve the ability of                                   
primary and middle school students to walk and bicycle to school safely.” SRTS funds are generally used                                 
for programs in the four following categories: 
 

● Encouragement: activities to persuade students to try walking and biking such as                       
achievement/award programs and walking school buses. 

● Education: a curriculum that teaches students about the benefits of walking and biking for                           
their personal health and the wellbeing of the environment as well as age appropriate                           
strategies for safety.  

● Engineering: physical changes to the walking and biking environment surrounding                   
schools and neighborhoods. This focuses on reducing speeds and creating safe crossings                       
and facilities for walking or biking. 

● Enforcement: uses laws to educate drivers and ensure the safety of children. 

 
A completed Phase I Study will provide additional information to use when developing future street and                               
sidewalk projects for the 5Year Community Investment Program (CIP) and future grant funding                         
opportunities. 

 

Related Statute/City Ordinance:  N/A 

Line Item Code/Description:  012320703 Engineering/Architect/Planning Services 

Available Budget:  $53,148 

 



Agreement No. 199-15 
 

MARC/WAMPO Agreement Master  
Rev. 04-27-2015 

1 

PROJECT NO. N-0644-01                       

  TA-N064(401)  

MISSION SAFE ROUTES TO SCHOOL PHASE 1 PLAN 

CITY OF MISSION, KANSAS 

 

 

 

A G R E E M E N T 

 

 This Agreement is between MICHAEL S. KING, Secretary of Transportation, Kansas 

Department of Transportation (KDOT) (the “Secretary”) and the City of Mission (“Sponsor”), 

collectively, the “Parties.” 

 

RECITALS: 

 

A. The Mid-America Regional Council (MARC) has been designated by the states of Kansas and 

Missouri as the Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) for the bi-state Kansas City 

metropolitan region. 

 

B. The Sponsor has submitted a Project to MARC and MARC has approved the Sponsor’s Project 

for receipt of Transportation Alternative (TA) Program funds. 

 

C. The Sponsor agrees to sponsor the Project, as further described in this Agreement. The 

Secretary and the Sponsor are empowered by the laws of Kansas to enter into agreements for 

the development of such projects, and the Secretary is authorized to administer funds for such 

projects. 

   

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of these premises and the mutual covenants set forth 

herein, the Parties agree to the following terms and provisions. 

 

ARTICLE I 

 

DEFINITIONS: The following terms as used in this Agreement have the designated meanings: 

 

1. “Agreement” means this written document, including all attachments and exhibits, evidencing 

the legally binding terms and conditions of the agreement between the Parties. 

 

2. “Effective Date” means the date this Agreement is signed by the Secretary or the  

Secretary’s designee. 

 

3. “Federal Government” means the United States of America and any executive department or 

agency thereof. 

 

4. “FHWA” means the Federal Highway Administration, a federal agency of the United States. 

 

5. “KDOT” means the Kansas Department of Transportation, an agency of the state of Kansas, 

with its principal place of business located at 700 SW Harrison Street, Topeka, KS, 66603-

3745. 



Agreement No. 199-15 
 

MARC/WAMPO Agreement Master  
Rev. 04-27-2015 

2 

 

6. “MARC” means the Mid-America Regional Council, with its place of business at 600 

Broadway, Suite 200, Kansas City, MO 64105. 

  

7. “Non-Participating Costs” means the costs of any items or services which the Secretary, 

acting on the Secretary’s own behalf and on behalf of the FHWA, reasonably determines are 

not eligible expenses for reimbursement. 

 

8. “Parties” means the Secretary of Transportation and KDOT, individually and collectively, 

and the Sponsor. 

 

9. “Project” means Mission Safe Routes to School Phase 1 Plan, as more specifically set forth 

in the Sponsor’s Project Application, attached as Appendix A, and is the subject of this 

Agreement. 

 

10. “Project Application” means the Sponsor’s Mission Safe Routes to School Phase 1 Plan 

submitted to MARC for federal TA funding assistance for the Project.  

 

11. “Secretary” means Michael S. King, in his official capacity as Secretary of Transportation of 

the state of Kansas, and his successors. 

 

12. “Sponsor” means City of Mission, Kansas, with its place of business at 6090 Woodson 

Mission, KS, 66202. 

 

13. “TA” means the Transportation Alternative Program funds of the Federal Government. 

 

14. “Urbanized Area” means an area encompassing a population of not less than 50,000 people 

that has been defined and designated in the most recent decennial census as an “urbanized area” 

by the U.S. Secretary of Commerce. 

 

ARTICLE II 

 

 SECRETARY RESPONSIBILITIES:  

 

1. Secretary Authorization. The Secretary is authorized by the Federal Government to 

administer TA funds. 

 

2. Fiscal Year Allocation. The Secretary has allocated TA funds from federal fiscal year 

(FFY) 2015 for the Project. 

  

3. Reimbursement Payments. The Secretary agrees to reimburse the Sponsor for eighty 

percent (80%) of the total actual and eligible costs incurred by the Sponsor, but not to exceed $20,000 

for the Project. The Secretary shall not be responsible for the total actual costs that exceed $25,000 for 

the Project. The Secretary’s reimbursement is subject to any federal reduction in TA funds. The 

Secretary agrees to make partial payments, for amounts not less than $1,000 and no more frequently 

than monthly, to the Sponsor upon receipt of proper billings and submission of quarterly progress 

reports. 

  



Agreement No. 199-15 
 

MARC/WAMPO Agreement Master  
Rev. 04-27-2015 

3 

4. Final Payment. Any final amount due for the authorized work performed under this 

Project will be based upon the Sponsor’s most recent Single Audit Report available and a desk review 

of the claim by the Contract Audit Section of the Secretary’s Bureau of Fiscal Services.  

 

ARTICLE III 

 

SPONSOR RESPONSIBILITIES: 

 

1. Incorporation of Project Application. The Sponsor shall undertake and complete the 

Project as described in the Sponsor’s Project Application, which is attached hereto and incorporated 

into this Agreement as Appendix A, and in accordance with the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement. 

 

2. Procurement. The Sponsor shall undertake the purchase of materials related to the 

Project in accordance with the procedures established by the current K.S.A. 75-3739 et seq. and 49 

C.F.R. 18.32. The Secretary shall not be responsible for any obligations that the Sponsor has assumed 

with using the State of Kansas’ procurement procedures. Furthermore, the Sponsor acknowledges and 

agrees its request to the Secretary to use the State of Kansas’ procurement procedures shall not bind 

the Secretary to render or provide assistance in any manner associated with this Agreement. 

 

3. Project Reporting Requirements. In conjunction with the Project, the Sponsor will 

attend MARC’s Active Transportation Programming Committee meetings as scheduled to report on 

Project progress status and to participate in any discussions regarding the Project unless the Sponsor, 

the Secretary and MARC mutually agree otherwise. The Sponsor further agrees, during the life of the 

Project, to attend any meetings requested by representatives of the Secretary or MARC, if the 

Secretary deems such meetings to be necessary. 

  

4. Inspections. Representatives of the Secretary, if the Secretary deems necessary, may 

make periodic inspections of the Project and the records of the Sponsor as may be deemed necessary or 

desirable. The Sponsor will accomplish or direct or cause its subcontractors to accomplish any 

corrective action or work required by the Secretary’s representatives as needed for federal 

participation. The Secretary does not undertake (for the benefit of the Sponsor, its subcontractors, or 

any third party) the duty to perform the day to day detailed monitoring of the Project, or to catch any 

errors, omissions, or deviations from the Project’s scope of work by the Sponsor or its subcontractors. 

 

5. Reports. The Sponsor shall advise the Secretary regarding the progress of the Project at 

such times and in such a manner as the Secretary may require, including, but not limited to, meetings, 

interim progress reports, summary of expenditures, and a detailed final report. 

 

6. Legal Authority. The Sponsor agrees to adopt all necessary ordinances and/or 

resolutions and to take such administrative or legal steps as may be required to give full effect to the 

terms of this Agreement. 

 

7. Indemnification. To the extent permitted by law and subject to the maximum liability 

provisions of the Kansas Tort Claims Act, the Sponsor shall defend, indemnify, hold harmless, and 

save the Secretary and the Secretary’s authorized representatives from any and all costs, liabilities, 

expenses, suits, judgments, damages to persons or property or claims of any nature whatsoever arising 

out of or in connection with the provisions or performance of this Agreement by the Sponsor, the 



Agreement No. 199-15 
 

MARC/WAMPO Agreement Master  
Rev. 04-27-2015 

4 

Sponsor’s agents, employees, or subcontractors. The Sponsor shall not be required to defend, 

indemnify, hold harmless, and save the Secretary for negligent acts or omissions of the Secretary or the 

Secretary’s authorized representatives or employees. 

 

8. Financial Obligation. The Sponsor will be responsible for twenty percent (20%) of the 

total actual costs incurred for the Project under $25,000. In addition, the Sponsor agrees to be 

responsible for one hundred percent (100%) of the total actual costs of the Project that exceed $25,000. 

Further, the Sponsor agrees to be responsible for one hundred percent (100%) of all costs of items 

found not eligible for reimbursement by the Secretary. 

 

9. Project Costs Prior to FHWA Approval. The Sponsor agrees to be responsible for 

one hundred percent (100%) of any Project costs incurred by the Sponsor for the Project prior to the 

funding for the Project being authorized, obligated, and approved by the FHWA. 

 

10. Restricted Funding Source. The Sponsor acknowledges and understands Secretary’s 

share of the Project’s total, actual, and eligible costs will be funded through the federal aid TA Funds 

allocated to the Kansas City Urbanized Area. The Secretary does not assume any liability in 

connection with the Project. The Sponsor shall reimburse the Secretary for any funds approved for this 

Project and expended by the Secretary for which the Secretary is not reimbursed by the Federal 

Government (Federal Aid TA Funds). 

  

11. Billings and Reporting. The Sponsor agrees to submit proper billings to the Secretary 

for amounts not less than $1,000 and no more frequently than monthly. The Sponsor will submit 

progress projects on the Project, in a form acceptable to the Secretary, together with the billings. 

Further, if a final report is required for the Project, the Sponsor must submit such final report to the 

Secretary prior to the Sponsor’s receipt of final payment. 

 

12. Payment of Final Billing. If any payment is due to the Secretary, such payment shall 

be made within thirty (30) days after receipt of a complete and final billing from the Secretary’s Chief 

of Fiscal Services. 

 

13. Audit. All local governmental units, state agencies or instrumentalities, non-profit 

Organizations, institutions of higher education and Indian Tribal governments shall comply with 

Federal-Aid Transportation Act and the requirements of 2 C.F.R. Part 200, “Uniform Administrative 

Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards” (commonly known as the 

“Supercircular”)  Further, the Sponsor agrees to the following provisions: 

 

a. Audit. It is the policy of the Secretary to make any final payments to the Sponsor for 

services related to the Project in a timely manner. The Audit Standards set forth in 2 

C.F.R. Part 200, “Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 

Requirements for Federal Awards,” and specifically the requirements in Subpart F, 2 

C.F.R. §200.500 et seq. require either a single or program specific audit be performed 

by an independent certified public accountant in accordance with these standards. All 

information audited and audit standards and procedures shall comply with 2 C.F.R. 

§200.500 et seq. 

 

b. Audit Report. The Secretary may pay any final amount due for the authorized work 

performed based upon the Sponsor’s most recent Single or Program Specific Audit 



Agreement No. 199-15 
 

MARC/WAMPO Agreement Master  
Rev. 04-27-2015 

5 

Report “(Audit Report”) available and a desk review of the claim by the Contract Audit 

Section of KDOT’s Bureau of Fiscal Services. The Sponsor, by acceptance of this 

Agreement, acknowledges the final payment is subject to all single or program specific 

audits which cover the time period of the expenses being claimed for reimbursement. 

The Parties agree as the Audit Report becomes available for the reimbursement period 

(normally should occur within a period of 1-2 years), the Secretary will review the 

Audit Report for items which are declared as not eligible for reimbursement. The 

Sponsor agrees to refund payment made by the Secretary to the Sponsor for items 

subsequently found to be not eligible for reimbursement by audit. 

 

c. Agency Audit. If the Sponsor is not subject to the Audit Standards set forth in 2 C.F.R. 

Part 200, the Secretary and/or the FHWA may request, in their sole discretion, to 

conduct an audit of the Project. Upon the request of the Secretary and/or the FHWA for 

an audit, the Sponsor will participate and cooperate in the audit and shall make its 

records and books available to representatives of the requesting agency for a period of 

five (5) years after date of final payment under this Agreement. If any such audit reveals 

payments have been made with federal funds by the Sponsor for items considered Non-

Participating Costs, the Sponsor shall promptly reimburse the Secretary for such items 

upon notification by the Secretary. 

 

14. Accounting. Upon request by the Secretary and in order to enable the Secretary to 

report all costs of the Project to the legislature, the Sponsor shall provide the Secretary an accounting 

of all actual Non-Participating Costs which are paid directly by the Sponsor to any party outside of the 

Secretary and all costs incurred by the Sponsor not to be reimbursed by the Secretary for any phase or 

any other major expense associated with the Project.  

 

15. Cancellation by Sponsor. If the Sponsor cancels the Project, it will reimburse the 

Secretary for any costs incurred by the Secretary prior to the cancellation of the Project. The Sponsor 

agrees to reimburse the Secretary within thirty (30) days after receipt by the Sponsor of the Secretary’s 

statement of the cost incurred by the Secretary prior to the cancellation of the Project. 

 

ARTICLE IV 

 

GENERAL FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS: 

 

1. FHWA Approval. This Agreement is subject to the approval of the Federal Highway 

Administration (FHWA). 

 

2. Organizational Registration Requirements.  
 

(a) Dun & Bradstreet. If it has not already done so, the Sponsor shall obtain a Data 

Universal Numbering System (DUNS) number, which may be obtained from Dun and 

Bradstreet, Inc. (D & B) by telephone (currently 866-705-5711) or the Internet (currently 

http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform). 

 

(b) System for Award Management. The Sponsor agrees it shall maintain current 

registrations in the System for Award Management (http://www.sam.gov) at all times during 

which it has active federal awards. 

http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform
http://www.sam.gov/


Agreement No. 199-15 
 

MARC/WAMPO Agreement Master  
Rev. 04-27-2015 

6 

 

ARTICLE V 

  

 GENERAL PROVISIONS: 

 

1. Amendments. Any change in this Agreement, whether by modification and/or 

supplementation must be accomplished by a formal contract amendment or supplement signed and 

approved by the duly authorized representatives of the Sponsor and the Secretary. 

 

2. Civil Rights Act. The “Special Attachment No. 1,” pertaining to the implementation of 

the Civil Rights Act of 1964, is attached and made a part of this Agreement. 

 

3. Contractual Provisions. The Provisions found in Contractual Provisions Attachment 

(Form DA-146a, Rev. 06-12), which is attached hereto, are hereby incorporated in this contract and 

made a part hereof. 

 

4. Headings. All headings in this Agreement have been included for convenience of 

reference only and are not be deemed to control or affect the meaning or construction or the provisions 

herein. 

 

5. Binding Agreement. This Agreement and all contracts entered into under the 

provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon the Secretary and the Sponsor and their successors 

in office. 

 

6. No Third Party Beneficiaries. No third party beneficiaries are intended to be created 

by this Agreement and nothing in this Agreement authorizes third parties to maintain a suit for 

damages pursuant to the terms or provisions of this Agreement. 

 

The signature page immediately follows this paragraph. 
  



Agreement No. 199-15 
 

MARC/WAMPO Agreement Master  
Rev. 04-27-2015 

7 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties have caused this Agreement to be signed by their duly 

authorized officers as of the Effective Date. 

 

 

     SPONSOR: 

 

 

ATTEST:    CITY OF MISSION, KANSAS 

 

 

_______________________________ ___________________________ 

 (date) Steve Schowengerdt, Mayor 

 

 

 

Michael S. King, Secretary of Transportation 

Kansas Department of Transportation 

 

 

                                 By: _________________________________ 

Jerome T. Younger, P.E.                 (Date) 

      Deputy Secretary and 

State Transportation Engineer 



MARC Transportation Department - 2014 Call for Projects

http://www.marc2.org/tr-call/projectdetails.aspx?PID=384[5/6/2014 10:37:13 AM]

 Summary of Mission Safe Routes to School Phase
 1 Plan
Mission
Contact Information

 Organization: Mission

 Contact person: Martin Rivarola

 Title: Community Development Director

 Phone: 9136768364

 E-mail: mrivarola@missionks.org

 Organization address: 6090 Woodson

 Mission, KS    66202

General Information

 Project title: Mission Safe Routes to School Phase 1 Plan

 Project

 description:

Develop a SRTS Phase 1 Plan. The City of Mission will use the "5 Es" in this first phase of planning to gather the

 conditions and perceptions of the schools. We will conduct an initial count of the number of students who walk and

 bike to school. The City plans to include PTA and school administrators in developing improvement plans and other

 encouragement activities that will be most effective for our goal to increase walking and bicycling to school.

 Project Type: Non-Motorized Transportation - Safe Routes to School

 Funding

 Stream:

 TAP

 TIP Number:

 State: Kansas

 Project

 county:

1. Johnson

 Project

 municipality:

1. Mission 2. Overland Park

 Multiple

 agencies /

 jurisdictions?

No 

We note "Overland Park" as a location of the project since one school (Shawnee Mission North High School) is in the

 City of Overland Park, but immediately adjacent to City of Mission. There is currently heavy pedestrian traffic from

 Mission into SMN for school activities.

 Purpose and

 need:

Since one of the biggest hurdles to increasing walking and bicycling is getting parents and students to change existing

 behaviors, finding ways to encourage walking and bicycling will be critical. The City believes walking and bicycling to

 school is part of a healthy lifestyle. We hope to enable the program so children can walk and bike to school safely,

 while having fun and making it a part of their daily routine. Study will also look at any physical improvements which

http://www.marc.org/
allisons
Text Box
Appendix A



MARC Transportation Department - 2014 Call for Projects

http://www.marc2.org/tr-call/projectdetails.aspx?PID=384[5/6/2014 10:37:13 AM]

 may be needed.

 

Origin and ending

   Route:

   From:

   To:

   Length

 (Miles):

 Functional

 Classification:

Not Applicable

 In

 Transportation

 Outlook 2040?

No   Decade:   --Select--

 Muli-Agency

 Plan?

No

 Included in a

 CIP?

No

 Planning

 stage:

Conceptual Plan

 Reviewed by

 state DOT?

No

 Right-of-Way

 acquisition:

Not started

 ROW by local

 public agency

 process

 manual?

No

 Other unique

 local goals

 and

 objectives?

No

 Leverages

 other funds?

Yes

Project will be matched by in-kind staff time and other city resources from General Fund.

 Environmental

 justice tracts?

No

 Reduces

 greenhouse

 gas

 emissions?

Yes

The City hopes to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by potentially reducing the flow of vehicle traffic and increasing

 the accessibility of our sidewalks and roadways so that our children can walk and bike to school safely and in a more

 routine manner.

 Explain local

 land use or

 comprehensive

 plans:

City of Mission Comprehensive Plan. City of Mission Climate Protection Plan.

 Relationship

 to Creating

 Quality

 Places:

Project will improve walkability

Project will improve transit access or mobility

Project will improve bicycle access or mobility

Project will address other Creating Quality Places factors

 Describe CQP

 relationship:

We hope to link our neighborhoods with commercial spaces to encourage social interaction and to foster a distinct

 sense of place. These quality public spaces are crucial in reinforcing the character of the community. Improving the

 walk-ability and accessibility provides comfort and relaxation in all seasons. Greater ease of non-motorized travel for

 students, also means other age groups will benefit (transit riders, for example)

 Complies with

 MARC’s CSP?

Yes

 Exception to

allisons
Line



MARC Transportation Department - 2014 Call for Projects

http://www.marc2.org/tr-call/projectdetails.aspx?PID=384[5/6/2014 10:37:13 AM]

 the MARC

 CSP?

 

Traveler Type (All Ages & Abilities)

 Pedestrians &

 Mobility Aid

 Users:

       

 Bicyclists:        

 Transit Riders:        

 Cars:        

 Trucks:        

 Motorcycles:        

 Buses:        

Project Financial Information

 TAP

 Federal

 amount:

20  (Thousands of $)

 TAP

 Match

 amount:

20  (Thousands of $)

 TAP Year

 requested:

2015

 Explain: If the City of Mission is awarded a grant, the Cit will begin the planning process as soon as all grant documents have been

 executed. The city will conduct the initial survey information and walk-a-bouts within the first 2 months of the grant. Over

 the course of the next 6 months, the City will compile data and alternatives. Hosting of the public meetings will be held

 throughout the duration of the planning process and final documents would be presented before December 31, 2015. We

 are in the process now of evaluating the current conditions and perceptions of each school. We will then compile

 information from caregivers/parents regarding common practices an reasons why parents are driving their children to and

 from school and ask what changes might result in a shift in behavior. As we begin to compile data, we will assess what

 might have an impact on perceptions and responses from the survey. The City understands the challenges of changing

 the existing behaviors, however, the City has a clear commitment to the continued maintenance and management of the

 SRTS plan. We plan to identify adequate social capital to continue programs which will require volunteer coordination. The

 City is committed to maintaining any infrastructure improvements which may be funded as part of any Phase II Projects.

 We are excited to present this plan to our schools if awarded. They will be pleased to hear we are committed to helping

 keep our children safe.

 

Cost Breakdown:

 Highway:   %

 Transit:   %

 Bike: 40  %

 Pedestrian: 40  %

 Other: 20  %

allisons
Line

allisons
Text Box
$5,000



 

City of Mission  Item Number:  8a. 

ACTION ITEM SUMMARY  Date:  August 19, 2015 

Administration   From:  Brian Scott  
Action items require a vote to recommend the item to full City Council for further action. 
 

RE:  Renewal of City’s Health Insurance Plan with Atena effective October 1, 2015.
 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve renewal of the City’s current health insurance plan with 
Aetna for one year beginning October 1, 2015 with no increase in premiums. 
 
DETAILS:  The City of Mission currently offers health insurance benefits for its 
employees through Aetna health insurance company.  This relationship has been in 
place since 2008.  The City utilizes a traditional, fullyinsured plan that covers a group of 
approximately 60 employees.  The plan year coincides with the calendar year.  Each 
year the group is rated based on a composite of demographics, past medical 
experience and recent claims.  This rating determines any increase in premiums that 
the City/Employee will pay for the following plan year. 
 
However, as a result of changes recently implemented with the Affordable Care Act, 
groups of our size will be rated on a “community basis” starting January 1st of 2016. 
Rather than the factors mentioned above, community based rating takes into account 
only the age and zip code of those in the group, and the industry of the group.  The 
potential impact on premiums of this rating approach is still unknown.  Lockton, the 
City’s health insurance broker, has informed staff that their general experience with 
groups that move to community based rating is that premiums have been higher than 
with the traditional, composite based rating. 
 
Atena recently approached the City with a unique offer to renew the City’s existing plan 
on October 1st instead of January 1st thereby allowing the City to defer the transition to 
community based rating for one year.  Furthermore, the proposed renewal rate will 
actually result in a slight decrease in premiums (.06%).  The proposed 2016 budget 
reflects an amount of $754,250 for health insurance, which is 5% higher than the 2015 
budget.  
 
If the City were to accept this offer the current health insurance plan and premiums will 
be locked in for the next twelve months.  This will result in a savings for both the City 
and its employees.  In addition, with no change in the plan (deductibles, copays, 
prescriptions, etc.) or premiums, employees will be able to budget for the coming year. 
Finally, this option will provide an opportunity for staff to better prepare for the eventual 
move that the City and its employees will most likely have to make. 
 
This offer was only recently been presented to staff, and there has been little time to 
adequately analyze the offer and present to the Council through the normal committee 
process.  Aetna needs to have a response from the City by September 1st to ensure 
 

Related Statute/City Ordinance:   

Line Item Code/Description:   

Available Budget:   

 



 

City of Mission  Item Number:  8a. 

ACTION ITEM SUMMARY  Date:  August 19, 2015 

Administration   From:  Brian Scott  
Action items require a vote to recommend the item to full City Council for further action. 
 

time for implementation and billing.  Consequently, staff is bringing this directly to the 
August 19th City Council agenda for consideration.   

 

Related Statute/City Ordinance:   

Line Item Code/Description:   

Available Budget:   

 










	CC Agenda 8-19-15 - Google Docs
	PC Minutes 7-27-15
	AI-SUP Case 15-05 6655 Martway St - Google Docs
	Staff Report Hy-Vee Italian Ice SUP - Google Docs
	Ordinance 6655 Martway St SUP - Google Docs
	AI_Resolution on Tax Policy for 2016 Budget - Google Docs
	KSA 79-2925b Resolution - City of Mission
	AI_2016 Budget Resolution - Google Docs
	2016 Budget Resolution Revised_Financial Policies - Google Docs
	AI_2016-2020 CIP Resolution - Google Docs
	2016-2020 CIP Resolution - Revised - Google Docs
	AI - Urban Animals Draft Ordinance - Google Docs
	Key Provisions Table - Google Docs
	Urban Animals Ordinance - Google Docs
	AI - Downtown TF Resolution
	Downtown TF Resolution
	AI - KDOT Agreement for SRTS Phase I Study - Google Docs
	N-0644 01 Mission Safe Routes to School Phase 1 Plan (Mission) (final) 199-15
	Mission Safe Routes to School Phase 1 Plan - 2014 Call for Projects.pdf
	marc2.org
	MARC Transportation Department - 2014 Call for Projects



	AI_Health Insurance Renewal - Google Docs
	Atena Renewal Change Request



